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Tuesday, October 16, 2007


--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.  Welcome to day 2 of the technical conference on the Bruce-to-Milton transmission reinforcement project hearing.


Does anyone wish to enter an appearance that wasn't here yesterday?  I see Mr. Adams is here.  Do you wish to enter an appearance, Tom?

Appearances


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  David MacIntosh was here yesterday for Energy Probe and I am here today, Tom Adams.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Any other new appearances?


I think we will just get started, then.  

Mr. Nettleton, I understand there is going to be another presentation by Hydro One, apparently slightly shorter than yesterday, so why don't I turn the floor over to you?

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  That's correct.  

Presentation by Mr. Nettleton


MR. NETTLETON:  Today's panel presentation comprises ten slides, as opposed to I think the 22 that we had yesterday, but despite the length of yesterday's presentation, it was accomplished just over an hour, well under the two-hour estimate.  Today's I think will be -- I will take a ballpark estimate of it being under an hour.  We will see how we go.


The purpose of today's presentation is to review the topics of project cost, construction, the project schedule, economics, the environmental-assessment status of the project, land matters and consultation.


Again, these are topical areas that Hydro One saw as being in common with the in excess of 250 questions that we had received.  Again, we thought that the best way to utilize the limited time that we have in this two-day process would be to present on common areas of interest, and, as best possible, try and address issues that were raised through the questioning process and have available presenters that could speak to and help clarify questions that may arise respecting the prefiled evidence.


Today's presenters are, again, Mr. Gary Schneider.  Mr. Schneider is the project manager.  Mr. Schneider is seated closest to me.  Beside Mr. Schneider is Mr. Rob Thomson.  Mr. Thomson is with Hydro One Networks and his title is special projects leader.  Beside Mr. Thomson is Mr. McCormick, Brian McCormick.  Mr. McCormick's title, again, with Hydro One Networks Inc., is environmental services and approvals director of that area.


Also with us, seated beside Mr. McCormick, is Mr. Andrew Skalski, and Mr. Skalski is in the regulatory affairs and case manager of regulatory affairs for this project with Hydro One Networks Inc.


Yesterday's presentation, again, focussed on the process of identifying the need and the evaluations that took place to get down to the Bruce-to-Milton project.  Today's presentation, based on the topical areas, is now within the confines of the Bruce-to-Milton project, and the topical areas concern that project and elements of that project.


So without further ado, Mr. Schneider, perhaps you can take it away.

Presentation by Mr. Schneider


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Thanks, Gord.  Today is the day of the technical conference where we send most of the engineers back to the office.  If you came here wanting to hear about static VAR compensation or voltage collapse, I'm sorry to say you will probably be disappointed, at least as far as my remarks are concerned.


As we did yesterday, we will start with the slide of covering the objectives of the presentation.  It is very brief.  We're here, as Gord mentioned, to review and clarify the application and the various aspects of the prefiled evidence that we gleaned from the large number of questions we received prior to the technical conference.


Of course, after the presentation, we will open it up to a question-and-answer session.


The presentation topics for today are listed on this slide.  We will start off with a discussion of the reference route for the proposed project in the Ontario Energy Board section 92 application.  


We will follow that with a discussion of the cost of the project and the various design and construction aspects associated with it.


We will speak a little bit about the project schedule leading to an in-service date of December 2011.


We will then follow with a discussion of the project economics and the estimated rate impact of the project.


We will follow that with a discussion of the status of the environmental assessment associated with the project.


That will be followed by a discussion of the land matters associated with the project, and we will end the presentation with a discussion of the consultation activities that we have conducted and plan to conduct for the project.


Now, the map you see on the screen is probably familiar to most, if not all, of you.  This is found in our application at Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 2.  It indicates the proposed Bruce-to-Milton transmission corridor that's proposed in the application.  It is titled, "Reference Route" on this slide.  That's the terminology used in the environmental assessment terms of reference for the project. 


Now, the letters you see along the route, the A, B, C, D, et cetera, with the vertical bars separating the line are meant to indicate different profiles or looks of the right-of-way, how it looks at various points as you see lines coming in and out of the right-of-way.  We will talk about that later in the presentation, so don't be distracted by those letters.


But what this project is about is a 180-kilometre transmission line on a widened existing transmission corridor extending from the Bruce nuclear facilities on the eastern shores of Lake Huron to our Milton switching station in the western part of the Greater Toronto Area.


The proposed line passes through 11 municipalities or townships, four counties and one regional municipality.  The line directly affects 374 deeded properties and, of course, the owners of those properties.


The cost of the project is estimated to be $635 million, and the total of number of structures that we plan to install for this line is approximately 780.


Now, you will see on the map, the dotted line representing the proposed transmission line, is sited on the north side of the widened existing corridor from the Bruce nuclear facility to Colbeck junction, and then follows down the eastern side of that corridor from Colbeck junction to the Milton switching station. 


I want to pause here and explain why the reference route is sited in that matter.  This was raised yesterday and I want to make sure we're clear on this.


When we made the application back in March, the major considerations in siting the route on the north and east sides of the expanded existing corridor had to do with technical and cost considerations.  Those considerations were related to trying to avoid crossing existing 500 kV lines with the new 500 kV line.


Now, if I can take your attention to the Kincardine area, where we talked yesterday a little bit about the lines coming out of the facility and the 500 kV line that extends south on the eastern side of Kincardine down to the Longwood station in the London area.


What we are trying to do is avoid crossing that 500 kV line with the proposed 500 kV line in this application.


Again, the considerations there are cost, because every time you do a crossover of a 500 kV line, you're looking at costs in excess of $5 million to do that crossing.  So there is a cost consideration there.


Secondly, there is a technical consideration.  Crossing 500 kV lines introduces complexities from an operations and a maintenance perspective, both perspectives that we want to avoid.  So for those reasons, we wanted to put the line on the north side of the existing corridor.  


In addition to that, another consideration that played into it was that the amount of publicly held land in most of Kincardine was sufficiently wide enough on the north side of the corridor to accommodate the new line without the need for requiring additional land rights from private landowners, primarily in Kincardine.  I believe in that municipality we are seeking rights from approximately five land owners.  The rest of the lands in Kincardine are publicly held and wide enough today to accommodate the new line.


So for those reasons, the line was sited on the north side.  Of course, as you move down the line, you stay to that side to avoid crossing the existing 500 kV line all the way down into Milton.


Now, during the public information centres that we held in the spring of this year on the project - I will talk about those centres a little bit later - but what I do want to raise here is that some of the attendees, members of the public as well as officials from the various municipalities and counties, came to us with suggestions for what we call local refinements or distinct changes to the route for us to consider in the process, of the planning and approvals processes. 

Some of them were as basic as: "You're trying to align the new towers with the existing towers in this project.  On my property, would you consider moving the tower 50 feet or 100 feet one direction or the other along the route?"


Some of them were that basic, and surely, we're going to consider those requests of the landowners and other stakeholders who make those requests. 

Three other local refinements were also brought to our attention.  I will cover them now, and I will also talk about them a little bit later.

One is a local refinement in the Hanover area.  Yesterday I referred to that as the Hanover dip.  What we plan to do in the project is follow the existing corridor down into Hanover and back out on to the existing corridor.  There has been a suggestion put to us by various stakeholders and landowners that we may want to reconsider a different alignment in that area, and as part of the environmental assessment, as documented in the terms of reference, we will be taking a look at that.

A second local refinement is in what's called the Camp Creek area, just east of Hanover in West Grey.  That is an environmentally sensitive wetland, and there were suggestions to us to take a look at that area for potential local refinement.  Again, that is something we are addressing in the environmental assessment, as documented in the terms of reference.

The third area is what we call a jog in the Milton switching station area, down in the corner, down here.  I want to talk about that refinement using the next slide, because what it does is affect a potential further refinement in the Halton Hills area.  I will explain that in the next slide.

Now, the next slide is a photo of the right-of-way down in the Milton end of the reference route.  To the right, going off of the slide, is the Milton switching station.  The solid lines you see right here are the existing 500 kV lines on a double-circuit tower, running into the Milton switching station.  The other solid line coming from the bottom of the page is a 500 kV double-circuit line coming in from our Middleport station.  The dotted line, red and yellow, is what you see as the proposed transmission line for this project.

Now, before I describe what the jog is in this area, I want to mention an issue that was brought to our attention on or around the time we made our Section 92 application back in March.  I want to refer you to Exhibit B, Tab 6, schedule 6 in the evidence, page 9 of 10.

While you are looking up that reference, I will just mention that in our meetings and discussions with municipal representatives along the route, an issue in the Halton Hills area was brought to our attention by representatives of Halton Hills municipality.

This issue was related to two commercial-development proposals that were before the municipality in this area.  The area on the map I am referring to is this piece of land here in Halton Hills, and this piece of land here in Halton Hills, just north of the Highway 401 and James Snow Parkway area.

Now, at the reference at Exhibit B, Tab 6, schedule 6, page 9, you will see on the table in that page, row 4.9, future development proposal.

I will just read into the record what it says there, it says that:
"A concern was related to the impacts on major commercial industrial developments in Halton Region."

That is what I spoke of as a concern being raised by the Halton Hills representatives.

"The town of Halton Hills has expressed concern over tax-revenue losses associated with two development proposals immediately north of Highway 401."

So in the latter stages of the development of our leave-to-construct application, we worked with the developers and came up with a proposal that we feel addresses the needs of Hydro One and the need for the transmission line, and the needs of the developers and the needs of Halton Hills municipality, in terms of addressing this issue.

Effectively - if I can refer you to the map - what we're planning to do in this area is build the towers on the east side, as you see along this map, to a point just north of where the Middleport lines and the Colbeck lines meet, and then construct towers along the west side until we meet the Middleport lines and bring them into the station.  Now what we're effectively doing, once we have built those tower structures, is transferring the existing 500 kV lines from the existing towers to the new towers, and moving the new line onto the existing structures.

What that does is remove the need for building additional structures on the east side of the corridor, because we're jogging, in effect, the lines over to the west side.

Now, an attractive feature for doing this that doesn't appear anywhere else in this magnitude along the corridor is the fact that this blue-shaded area represents publicly held land.  So one of the attractive features in order to allow us to do this is that by making this jog here, we're placing the new structures on publicly held lands, so no additional land rights are required from private landowners in this area.

That is a description of what we are doing in this end of the project.  It is documented in the reference I cited, but in the mapping at the back of the application, the map for this area has not been updated in the application.  And that will be the subject of an application update within the next week or two that I mentioned yesterday, providing an update of that map.

Now, the issue of the local refinement following this is that during the consultations and since the consultations in the spring, there has been suggestions that this jog be reconsidered in terms of its location.  And a suggestion has been put to Hydro One that we may want to look at a different location for this jog further up -- and I will just go back to the previous slide for a second -- somewhere in the Halton Hills area, further up from where it is at the moment.

My understanding is the primary reason for considering a jog in an area further north in Halton Hills is to avoid the number of property buyouts that are required for the project.

So that is another one of the local refinements we will be looking at in the environmental assessment, and it is set out in the terms of reference as one of the areas that we will be looking at.

I want to move on to project costs at this time.  As you are likely aware, the project is estimated to cost $635 million.  That's made up of a line component representing the majority of the cost: $555 million; stations and telecommunications equipment accounts for about $65 million; and preliminary engineering represents about $15 million.

Just to be a little clearer, the preliminary engineering item includes things like preliminary design work of the line, legal and other surveys, hearing costs, the environmental-assessment work, the consultations that we have conducted.  Things of that nature.

Considerations in the cost included a number of contingency items, and they're listed on the slide.  Considerations are given to the delays to the schedule to in-service, and these delays would tend to increase interest costs associated with the project, and could include delays to approvals.  It could include delays due to materials procurement delays, or equipment delays.

Land costs are also covered as a contingency item, and this includes the payments for property rights, be those easement payments or property-buyout payments.

The contingency items also cover design changes, and this includes any mitigations that we may have to implement as a result of the environmental assessment.

Unexpected construction conditions are also covered in the contingency items.  This includes items such as soil condition changes that cause us to change foundations, for example, equipment availability and failures, and adverse weather that may delay the work to some extent.

Of course, the unavailability of some circuit outages, when required, is also a contingency item.  We do need outages to connect the line to the two terminal stations for the project, and we've got a plan for those outages, and if they are delayed that could cause some cost impacts as well.

In terms of projects construction and project administration, I just want to remind everyone that what we're talking about is a 500 kV double-circuit line on steel lattice towers, standard steel lattice towers, on a widened existing transmission corridor.


As I mentioned previously, the tower locations are planned to be in line with the existing 500 kV towers, and this is to make it aesthetically blend in with the existing tower line.  This is a standard 500 kV tower line using standard construction techniques.  


In terms of the tower types, as I mentioned previously there are approximately 780 structures planned for the project.  The majority of those, approximately 640, are standard two-circuit suspension towers.  There are just over 100 angle-type towers where there are slight turns in the right-of-way, and there are approximately 30 single-circuit structures between the Bruce A and B facilities, approaching the Bruce junction where those two single-circuit towers become a double-circuit tower, and, of course, approaching the Milton SS, switching station, the same situation.


I want to put the map up briefly, just for a second, because the next few slides are going to provide a look or a profile of the right-of-way as it changes along the route from the Bruce nuclear facilities to the Milton switching station.


As you can see on this map, a number of lines either join into the right-of-way or leave the right-of-way at different points along the route.  So the right-of-way does have a number of different looks to it.  In total, there are four different profiles that represent the look of this right-of-way as we move along it.


So what I want to start with:  Imagine you are standing at Milton switching station and you are looking north towards Colbeck junction.  That is the direction, generally, I am going to describe the look of the right-of-way in the next few slides.


So starting at Milton, what you would see today is the structure in this slide on the left-hand side.  There is a 500 kV existing double-circuit 500 kV line extending from Milton switching station north to Colbeck junction.


The new line will mirror the existing line and look pretty much the same as the existing line, and will be aligned with the existing tower.  So that is the structure you see on the right.  These structures are approximately 160 feet in height and about 30 feet at the base.


This look or this profile of the right-of-way will exist in Milton, Halton Hills, Erin, East Garafraxa, most of East Luther Grand Valley with the exception of the northern part of that municipality, and further down the right-of-way in a small part in Brockton towards the west side of that municipality.


Just before I move on to the next profile, I do want to mention that in this part of the right-of-way, between Colbeck junction and Milton, from a planning perspective, a somewhat attractive feature of this right-of-way is that it is currently situated on the back lot lines of the properties extending from Colbeck to Milton.


So, in general terms, it is removed from existing residences or major farm or commercial buildings, generally speaking, in this area.  Between Colbeck junction and the Bruce nuclear facilities, the line tends to diagonally cross those properties, and basically diagonally crosses those properties and does not follow back lot lines.


In this area of the corridor, the existing transmission corridor is approximately 250 feet in width.  That is the amount of right-of-way width that is typically required for a double-circuit 500 kV line.


The next profile on the screen exists in a small piece of East Luther Grand Valley - that is the north end I spoke of previously - a small piece of Wellington North is the north end of that municipality; in all of Southgate and in most of Brockton.  This would be the middle part of Brockton, with the exception of the west and the east sides.


After the widening of the existing corridor, this corridor will become approximately 425 feet wide.  So it will move from 250 feet to approximately 425 feet, a widening of approximately 175 feet.


In these areas, what exists, looking again towards Bruce, is a 500 kV existing double-circuit tower line on the left, a 230 kV double-circuit line to the right of that 500 kV line, and we are proposing a 500 kV line to the right of that 230 kV line. 


Generally speaking, the width of this corridor is approximately 325 feet, as it stands today.  Of course, this is generally speaking, because the width of the right-of-way is a function of what land rights the company has in the specific areas, but, generally speaking, approximately 325 feet in width.


After the widening of the existing corridor, it will be approximately 520 feet, representing a widening of about 195 to 200 feet.


The third profile looks very similar to what I just showed you on the screen.  However, the orientation of the existing 230 kV line and 500 kV line is now reversed, with the 230 kV line on the left, the 500 kV line in the middle, with the proposed 500 kV line to the right.


In this area, this represents the profile in the east side of Kincardine, the west and east sides of Brockton, Hanover, and the west side of West Grey.


In these areas, the existing corridor is approximately 325 feet wide, again with a widening of 175 feet in this case, brings the new corridor - expanded, widened corridor - to 500 feet.


The last profile I want to show you is a profile coming out of the Bruce nuclear facilities where there is the largest number of tower lines, as you may expect.  This covers the area of most of Kincardine.  The corridor is currently comprised of a 230 kV line on the left looking towards the Bruce, two 500 kV tower lines in the middle, and a proposed 500 kV line on the right.


Now, I do want to remind you that in this area virtually no additional land rights are required, because the space on the existing right-of-way that is publicly held is sufficiently wide enough to accommodate the new line.


Now, let's move to proposed schedule for the project.


As you are all aware, we made our section 92 application to the Ontario Energy Board at the end of March this year.  Shortly following that, we held a series of seven public information centres in early May.  


In parallel with those consultations, consultations with various government ministries and agencies were ongoing in preparation of our environmental assessment terms of reference document.  That terms of reference document was proposed in August.  We have received several comments on that document and we are responding to those comments, and we plan to receive approval of the terms of reference by November 2007.  By the end of November.


In accordance with Procedural Order No. 3 for this proceeding, an oral hearing is planned for initiation in mid-January lasting approximately three weeks.  From a planning perspective, we are hopeful that we can receive an OEB decision by the end of March 2008.


We anticipate environmental-assessment approval by January 2009, and at that point we will initiate the expropriation process in February 2009.


Now, between now and then, we will be out actively discussing the project with landowners and seeking easement agreements with them for their required rights to construct the line, so that if we are able to reach agreements, the expropriation process may well not apply in those cases.


However, when it is all said and done, we will want to have acquired all of the land and/or land rights we need to construct the project by December 2009.


We will begin construction of the project in January 2009, and that is specifically on the lands where we have rights to, and that includes those that are publicly owned, so there would not be a need for the expropriation process in those areas.


So in a nutshell, it is about two-and-a-half years for the approvals and land-rights acquisition for this project, and about three years to build it, to reach a planned project in-service date of late 2011, specifically December 2011.


Now, this schedule differs from what is currently in the application, in that the expropriation process has shifted out to start at a later date.  That is primarily in response to the feedback we received through the consultations, asking for more time for negotiations and discussions about land rights and related issues.  So we have moved that expropriation process out into the future and this change to the application will be the subject of the update that we will be filing, again, in the next week or two.

Now I should mention the revised schedule has been communicated to stakeholders and landowners associated with the project.  We have done that via newsletters and other communications, but we haven't yet updated the application.  We will be doing that shortly.

Moving on to project economics and rate impact.  There was some discussion of this item yesterday, but I will recap it here.

The investment in this project is a network investment.  From a transmission rate perspective, transmission rates are categorized into three rate pools:  the network pool, the line-connection pool, and the transformation connection pool.  This is a network investment, so it impacts on the network pool.  

The long-term load forecast, as was mentioned yesterday, indicates flat load growth for the network pool, after mandated conservation and demand-management programs are implemented.  Therefore, from a project economics and evaluation perspective, zero incremental load is attributed to this project for evaluation purposes.  While the line will carry significant load, it is replacement for load currently obtained from other generation sources.

So what we're looking at is calculating a rate impact.  What we have done is calculated a rate impact based on the existing network pool rate and the existing transmission capital structure and ROE.

That rate impact is estimated to be, as set out in the application, between eight and nine percent on the network pool rate, which on a customer's total bill - in this case we're looking at a residential customer's total bill - it represents about 0.4 percent of an increase on the total bill.

Now, you may be aware that we recently received Ontario Energy Board approval of revenue requirement for our transmission business for 2007 and 2008.  We are in the process of updating the uniform provincial transmission rates based on that approval.

Those rates are expected to be ready for implementation November 1st, 2007.  When those rates are finalized, we will be updating the rate impact as a part of this application based on those new rates.  And that will be a subject of the updated application, as well.

Environmental assessment status.  As I mentioned, over the spring and summer of 2007, with input from the public, government agencies and other stakeholders, we developed the terms of reference for the environmental assessments associated with this project.

We submitted the proposed terms of reference to the Ministry of Environment in early August, 2007.  The comment period has ended, and we are still in the process of preparing and issuing written responses to all of the comments we received.

In parallel with that, based on the early-access approval we received from the Energy Board on August 20th, we have been out conducting the early-access activities as set out in that application.  In addition, we are planning to look at the local route refinement suggestions I spoke to earlier.  However, detailed further assessments in those areas are pending the approval of our terms of reference that we're hoping to get in November.

The consultation initiatives are also continuing with the government agencies and further public consultation, further rounds of public information centres, are planned.   But, again, they are pending the approval of the terms of reference.

In terms of the land matters associated with the project, I just want to remind you that the reference route affects 374 deeded properties.  The project is a widening of an existing corridor by about 175 feet to 200 feet.  We will be attempting to acquire the rights to the land based on market-value principles, using professional land appraisers.  

In areas where there are residences or major farm or commercial buildings located on the widened corridor, we will be looking at buying out the entire parcel of land.  I should mention, along the corridor there are approximately 30 of these situations, of the 374 deeded properties.

We did initiate a landowner contact program early in 2007, and all have been contacted to date, in terms of the land matters associated with the project.  Property agents have been assigned to each and every landowner along the route, as a single point of contact to handle questions and arrange for appraisals.  Appraisals were one of the early-access activities that we received approval for.

As I mentioned, shortly after receiving the early-access Decision and Order from the Board, we were out in late August conducting those early-access activities.

Now, the next slide.  Lots of information in that table, though not particularly relevant to the proceeding before the Ontario Energy Board.  We felt it would be helpful to provide some information on the process because during our consultations with landowners and other stakeholders, we had a lot of questions about our land-compensation practices.

So this slide is attempting to provide a high-level summary of what it is.  It really starts in the first two boxes at the top of the page, where we received our early-access approval to access the proposed lands for the new line, and conduct activities as set out in that application.  

We're out there conducting those activities as we speak, and the star in the first set of boxes right there is attempting to indicate where we are presently.

With respect to land matters, we are preparing appraisal reports and woodlot evaluations on those properties, where they are applicable.

Ultimately, where we get to is a formal compensation offer that is prepared and presented to each landowner.  That compensation offer will include one or more of the following components, and you see them in the box here in the middle row here.  They could include the market value of the right required, injurious affections to the remaining lands, entitlements under the Expropriations Act, and applicable allowances.

Of course, following that offer there are negotiations that continue with the landowners, and there is one of two results that could happen here.  If the landowner and Hydro One achieve a mutually satisfactory settlement, then a formal approved land agreement will be prepared and executed.

If a settlement isn't reached through negotiations, then the expropriation process under the OEB Act and the Expropriation Act will apply.

Now in terms of our consultation, I want to speak a little bit about what we did prior to making the Section 92 application, what we have done since, and what we plan to do going forward.

Back in December 2006 and January 2007, Hydro One and representatives from the Ontario Power Authority travelled up and down the line from Bruce to Milton, holding meetings with various local representatives and senior planning officials within the municipalities and counties along the route, briefing them on the project, on the process, on the schedule, and learning from them about unique features and concerns that may arise in those specific municipalities and counties.  


We also commenced our consultation with aboriginal community leaders for aboriginal groups who may be potentially affected by the new line.

In March, as you are well aware, we made the application to the Ontario Energy Board for leave to construct.  We also sent to affected property owners a letter and newsletter announcing the project.  There were news releases from both OPA and Hydro One, and we launched a project website so that people could have easy access to information about the project.

After making our Section 92 filing, we held public information centres in early May at seven different municipalities along the corridor, including Kincardine, Hanover, Holstein, Marsville, Grand Valley, Erin and Acton.  We continued meeting with federal and provincial agencies and interest groups.  

We sent to the affected property owners newsletters and OEB procedural information, as the Section 98 and Section 92 proceedings continued.  

We continued our consultations with aboriginal peoples.  We also understand that the Crown consultation process with aboriginal peoples was also underway.


Also as part of the early-access activities, one of the conditions of that approval was to provide written and oral notice to each affected landowner, and we have been consistently contacting owners in that respect related to the early access activities.


Just circling back to the information centres, we found those were extremely helpful in further planning for the project.  We had in excess of 500 attendees at those seven centres in total, representing affected landowners, interested stakeholders, other groups, and we felt that the input we received gave us valuable input to both the OEB and the environmental-assessment processes.


Going forward.  As I mentioned previously, we are planning for additional rounds of public information centres once the terms of reference for the environmental assessment is approved.  We also will be continuing our discussions and communications with local elected officials and senior planning staff within the municipalities.


Mr. Millar, that concludes my presentation.  At this point, we can open it up to questions and answers.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  I think Energy Probe has graciously appeared to go first -- pardon me, Pollution Probe.  My mistake.  


Unless there are any objections to that, I will hand the floor over to Mr. Gibbons.


MR. GIBBONS:  Energy Probe was last a part of Pollution Probe over a quarter of a century ago.


MR. MILLAR:  My apologies.

Questions by Mr. Gibbons


MR. GIBBONS:  Andrew, could you turn up your prefiled Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 4, page 1.


MR. SKALSKI:  Jack, the page number again, please?


MR. GIBBONS:  Page 1.


MR. SKALSKI:  Page 1.


MR. GIBBONS:  Your discounted cash flow analysis.


MR. SKALSKI:  I have it.


MR. GIBBONS:  This is the discounted cash flow analysis for the proposed line.  It has a net present value of $622 million?


MR. SKALSKI:  That's right.  Negative, yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  Yes, negative.  Absolutely.


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  That present value, what year is that in?  What year's dollars?


MR. SKALSKI:  2007.


MR. GIBBONS:  Those are 2007 dollars?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  Thanks.  In terms of the locked-in energy in the Bruce Peninsula, the energy that will be locked in if we stick with the "do nothing" approach, if we do nothing.  Have you calculated the net present value of the locked-in energy under the "do nothing" approach?


MR. SKALSKI:  No, I haven't.


MR. GIBBONS:  Has anyone at Hydro One?


MR. SKALSKI:  No, we haven't.  The reason for that is set out in the prior exhibit, Jack, B.4.3, where we indicate that the economic evaluation here is concerned just with the transmission aspects of the project.  


So we're only looking at the transmission capital, and we're only looking at the load, which, in this case, as we covered yesterday and also Gary briefly covered it today, has been set to zero, because of the long-term flat load forecast for the network pool.


So we're only considering in our economic evaluation what is happening on the transmission side.  Any generation-side economic issues are not included in this analysis.


MR. GIBBONS:  I understand why you're not including your transmission revenues; you're saying they're zero on a system-wide basis, and I am not going to dispute that with you.  But I don't see why you wouldn't have looked at the net present value of the locked-in energy, because the Board's mandate is to look at this proposal from a public-interest perspective looking at prices to consumers and reliability.


Your project will push everything else, push up rates, and I heard counsel for the OPA yesterday seeming to suggest that the whole rationale for this was to push down rates by avoiding paying for locked-in energy, avoiding electricity consumers having to pay for energy they couldn't consume.


As an economist - and I think you're an economist 

too - I'm just a little baffled.


MR. SKALSKI:  As I say, we were looking at just the transmission aspects of the plan.  OPA, as Bob Chow mentioned, is, as I understand it, looking at locked-in energy calculations.  They haven't shared those with us.


MR. GIBBONS:  Have you asked them for them?


MR. SKALSKI:  No, I haven't.


MR. GIBBONS:  Gord, yesterday when I tried to pursue economics, you punted me to this panel.  Now we have a panel and the OPA is not here.  Can you get them here before the end of the day so we can address this question?


MR. NETTLETON:  We can take it at the break, but I am not making any commitments as to whether or not they're able to attend or not.  I haven't discussed that.  I don't know what Bob Chow's availability is.


MR. GIBBONS:  Maybe if you could ask the OPA.  It doesn't have to be Bob Chow.  I would be happy to see Amir Shalaby or anyone else to address this question.


MR. NETTLETON:  Again, we will take it at the break and see what we can do.


MR. GIBBONS:  Thanks, Gord.


So I assume, Andrew, just to be perfectly clear and for the benefit of caution, if you haven't included the value of the locked-in energy under the "do nothing" case, I assume you haven't calculated the reduction, the net present value of the locked-in energy, under your various scenarios of improving, upgrading the existing line?


MR. SKALSKI:  Jack, I missed you on the last bit.


MR. GIBBONS:  If we go to the PowerPoint from yesterday, yesterday's PowerPoint, page 19.


MR. SKALSKI:  Give me a moment.


MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.


MR. SKALSKI:  Jack, which slide?


MR. GIBBONS:  Page 19.  I don't know which slide it is, I'm sorry, but it is page 19 of the printout.  Oh, it is titled "Near-Term Measures".  The last line is, "Will increase capability by about 400 megawatts."


MR. SKALSKI:  Is that it?


MR. GIBBONS:  No.  It wasn't -- no.  I'm looking at the actual words.  Maybe it is below.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Near term?


MR. GIBBONS:  There.  That's the one I'm looking for.  Thank you.


"Near-term measures will increase the capability by 400 megawatts."  So, according to my simple calculation, that would eliminate 400 megawatts of locked-in energy and that would have a certain net present value of benefits.  I take it you haven't calculated that?


MR. SKALSKI:  No.  That is I guess partly because the near-term and interim measures technically aren't part of this application.  We're only applying for approval to build the line.  The near-term and interim measures are other aspects of the overall plan for the Bruce area that will be undertaken, but they're not part of this section 92 application, so they're outside of the economic analysis.


MR. GIBBONS:  I will tell you from my simple-minded point of view why I think it is relevant to this proceeding.  If we do these near-term measures, we're going to reduce the value of the locked-in energy.  I am interested in the cost-effectiveness of each of the near-term measures, and then, on the next page of the PowerPoint, interim measures.


I think the OPA and Hydro One should analyze the net present value of the interim measures in terms of reducing the net present value of locked-in energy, because then if the locked-in energy, say, after all of these interim measures, is only $100 million present value and the line has a negative present value of over $600 million, just from the point of view of a simple-minded economist like me, who is just looking at dollars and cents for ratepayers, it doesn't make economic sense.


MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, Jack, I think you are making the assumption that those near-term and interim measures can be carried on indefinitely.  Bob Chow's point yesterday was those are just stop-gap items.


Certainly the interim measures are stop-gap items, meant to bridge the shortfall in transmission capability.


MR. GIBBONS:  Then just to get back to, maybe, how you address that, because I actually thought of that.


Bob Chow is assuming that once the B units come to the end of their service life, they will be rebuilt or replaced, that capacity.  And that may be true, but I think the Board will also look at the other scenario that is not done; the B units when they retire are not replaced, because maybe the additional nuclear capacity, if there is to be additional nuclear capacity in this province, will be at Darlington, or will be at Pickering, or will be at Nanticoke, where Minister Duncan and the local mayor has suggested it might be a good solution.


You might have to put a line there.  Or no, you wouldn't, because there is already a line.  But that's why I think this analysis will be helpful to the OEB.

MR. SKALSKI:  Can I comment on that?

MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.

MR. SKALSKI:  One other aspect to keep in mind here is that the Board has already indicated in its ISP Review Guidelines, that in the IPSP review, they are not going to go back and review the prudence of OPA decisions that were the subject of government directive regarding procurement, such as the new generation that is arising in the routes.  Those contracts have been signed, and the OEB -- 

MR. GIBBONS:  No, no, not the --

MR. SKALSKI:  Hang on a second.

MR. GIBBONS:  I'm not disputing those.

MR. SKALSKI:  No, I hear what you're saying, but just in terms of doing an economic analysis of this project, I think it is important to stay on topic and not to stray into areas, for example, that the OEB has indicated they're not going to revisit as part of the IPSP.  And then we are assuming that for this project, as well, the same would apply as a pre-IPSP project.  They're not going to go back and revisit decisions that have been made.  Those are past decisions.

So again, when you are trying to get into examinations of the economic consequences of generation-related decisions in the Bruce area, then I think you are going to run up against that expression from the Board that they don't want to look at that, or it is not relevant because those decisions have been taken.

MR. GIBBONS:  Sir, unless I have really been asleep for the last year or so in this province, to the best of my knowledge, neither this Board nor the Government of Ontario has made a decision to either rebuild the Bruce B units or to build new nuclear reactors at the Bruce site.  If you can provide me any documentation to contradict that, that will be extremely helpful.

MR. SKALSKI:  No.  And I think Bob Chow indicated yesterday that is the case.  There are no signed contracts in place. 

MR. GIBBONS:  No decision has been made?

MR. SKALSKI:  No.

MR. GIBBONS:  No.  Good.  I didn't think I missed that one.

MR. SKALSKI:  Not that one.

MR. GIBBONS:  No, not that one.  I'm sure many others, things; not that one.

If we can go to the handout from today, and page 3 from the printed version, which is project costs.  The project estimated cost is $635 million, and you have given a breakout of the line cost, the stations and telecom costs, and the preliminary engineering.  According to my calculations, when you add up those three breakout items, you get $635 million.  That's correct?

MR. SKALSKI:  I'm glad you verified that our math is correct.

MR. GIBBONS:  You had better check it too.  

MR. SKALSKI:  I just did.

MR. GIBBONS:  Good.  So we're totally agreed on that.  But then there is something below called "contingency items", and you have listed a number of them.  Are those contingency items above the $635 million?  Are they going to push the cost above it?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, they're included.  They're dollars included in the budget [inaudible].


MR. GIBBONS:  Now what do you think is the probability, if this project is approved, the actual capital budget will be greater than $635 million?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I didn't hear.


MR. GIBBONS:  If this project is approved, what do you think is the probability that the actual capital costs would be greater than 635 million?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I can't comment on that.  This is an estimate of the total project cost.

MR. GIBBONS:  Right.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  If you're asking me: Is it going to come in at exactly $635 million?

MR. GIBBONS:  I'm asking you what is the probability it will exceed that.  Does the panel have any idea?

[Panel confers]  

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Maybe to be helpful, I can tell you the contingency items listed there account to about nine percent of the project cost.  We have put in those dollars to account for those contingency items, so I am having difficulty answering your question, Do we think we're going to come in higher.  We are trying to account for that by putting in dollars to cover the contingency items.

MR. NETTLETON:  Jack, are you asking the presenters if they have done a probabilistic forecast that the actual costs of a project that is effectively going to come in service in 2013 is going to come in under-budget or over-budget?

MR. GIBBONS:  I think by you using the word "probabilistic", you mean in some kind of sophisticated mathematical modelling.  Not necessarily; but if they have done that, it would be great to know.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm just using your word "probability".  I am wanting to understand.  The presenters have said that they have provided a forecast of their costs, based on their best judgment as of the date of the application.  What the actual costs are going to be are going to be known once they have been incurred.

MR. GIBBONS:  That's for sure.  Maybe you can approach it a bit different way, and maybe you can be helpful.

With the old Ontario Hydro - and you are one of the companies that we spawned by the old Ontario Hydro - cost overruns seemed to be endemic.  Can you maybe describe how you made these cost estimates, something to give us some confidence that this is not likely to be cost overruns?  Given the experience that we have seen with the old Ontario Hydro.  It had many good features, but controlling costs wasn't one of them.

[Panel confers]  

MR. SKALSKI:  Jack, I can try to be a bit helpful here.  There is a section in the costing evidence, which is Exhibit B, Tab 4, schedule 2, page 4.

MR. GIBBONS:  B, Tab 2, schedule 1, page 4?  

MR. SKALSKI:  No.  B, Tab 4 --

MR. GIBBONS:  Oh, Tab 4.

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  Schedule 2.

MR. GIBBONS:  Schedule 1?

MR. SKALSKI:  Schedule 2.

MR. GIBBONS:  Oh, Schedule 2.

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  It's a schedule called "Project costs".  Go to page 4.  We've got a section there called "Costing processes".  Do you have it?  

MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.

MR. SKALSKI:  In that section, we tried to set out how the cost estimates were developed, and it indicates there that:
"The costs of the proposed facilities have been estimated using industry standard processes.  Using current information, those processes include benchmarking in similar projects, preparation of a procurement plan that includes evaluation of the risks of fluctuating commodity prices, and it also includes escalation rates over the construction schedule."

The second paragraph is also important.  

When you look at the costs of the project before overheads and AFUDC, or interest, 72 percent of those costs are going to be subject to public tendering, competitive bidding or, in the case of the land costs, market valuations.

So 72 percent of the total will be subject to market discipline, if you will, and the remaining 28 percent is made up of labour.  So I hope that provides a bit of comfort, in terms of how the costs should be competitive for this project.

MR. GIBBONS:  I guess, Andrew, competitive and $635 million are not necessarily the same thing.

MR. SKALSKI:  We think it is a deal, actually, at 635.

MR. GIBBONS:  In terms of those two paragraphs you focussed on, in terms of the first paragraph, in terms of process, is there anything in those processes that are different from the old Ontario Hydro's processes?

MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, I can't talk to that.  That precedes my time with the company.

MR. GIBBONS:  Maybe some of the other gentlemen who are a bit older than you?

MR. NETTLETON:  It doesn't look like, Jack, we have someone that can speak to the past the way you would like them to.


MR. GIBBONS:  Mr. McCormick, how long have you worked for the company, the old Ontario Hydro?


MR. McCORMICK:  In total, Ontario Hydro and Hydro One Networks, 27 years.


MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.  We've been in this business about the same length of time.  Can you help me?


MR. McCORMICK:  Remember, my role in both organizations was environmental approvals.  I'm not party to engineering design construction.  I can't speak to that.


MR. GIBBONS:  Andrew, with respect to the second paragraph, you know you talk about the public tendering.  Whenever I talk to people in the energy industry now, I hear all about how the economy is booming, how difficult it is to get skilled labour, how cost of equipment is rising, rising, rising.  Those factors, they also apply to the electricity transmission business?


MR. SKALSKI:  Some of them, yes, and one big item which you didn't mention is just the increase in commodity prices, metals, aluminum, copper and so on, yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  Right.


MR. SKALSKI:  And we're conscious of that.  We're aware of that trend, of that inflation in commodity prices, and that has been factored in, I understand, to the development cost estimate.


MR. GIBBONS:  It's been factored in, you understand.  You didn't do that analysis yourself?


MR. SKALSKI:  I did not develop the costs myself, no.


MR. GIBBONS:  Anyone on the panel?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, but we can say that those considerations were factored into the estimates.  If you are looking for more information about how they were factored in or to your previous question about at a level deeper than what is in the application in terms of how we costed the project, then I suggest maybe an IR would be a better way to get that, a more efficient way to get that.


MR. GIBBONS:  Now, we also have some questions about alternative transmission projects in terms of costs and line losses and reliability.  Can this panel help me?


MR. NETTLETON:  Why don't you ask the questions, Jack, and we will see?


MR. GIBBONS:  Yesterday the other panel identified a number of different transmission options.  I am wondering, for all of those alternative transmission options, do you have capital cost estimates?  Do you have estimates of their line losses relative to your preferred option, and do you have quantitative and/or qualitative estimates of the different options, in terms of system reliability, keeping the lights on?


[Panel confers]


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I guess, keeping in mind that this panel is about the project and not the alternatives, I will try to be helpful for some of those things.


We did talk yesterday about costs of some of the other options.  Just bear with me for a second.


We talked about the Crieff and Essa options being relatively in the same ballpark as the Milton option.  We talked about Kleinburg being approximately $50 million in excess of the Milton option.  Longwood would be approximately - this is the Bruce to Longwood to Middleport - would be approximately $400 million in excess of the Milton option.


So in terms of capital costs, I can give you that information.  A lot of that has to do with line length.  For the Crieff option, although the line length is comparable, there is a need for a brand-new 500 to 230 kV auto transformer station, so that brings the costs up there.  So that gives you kind of a ballpark of the option costs.


MR. GIBBONS:  Did you say for all of the transmission options they have a higher capital cost?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I will say them again.  Crieff and Essa are comparable to Milton.  Longwood is $400 million higher.  Kleinburg is approximately $50 million higher.


MR. GIBBONS:  What about line loss analysis?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that information with me.


MR. GIBBONS:  Has Hydro One done that?


[Panel confers]


MR. SCHNEIDER:  As far as the project is concerned, I would suspect the SIA from the IESO would have information on losses associated with the project, but I am not aware of losses estimated for the others.  Maybe that would be a subject of an IR, as well.  We could see what we could do, what we have.


MR. GIBBONS:  You're not aware of anything?  You don't know if the OPA has done a --


MR. NETTLETON:  Just to be clear, I think what Mr. Chow indicated yesterday through that discussion of the summary of option screening results was that the options were screened out as they fell out of the various screens that were applied.  That ultimately ended at the Bruce-to-Milton as being the selection of the project.


I think what you are now asking is details surrounding how and if the screens that were applied took into account factors such as line losses.  That would have been the subject matter of yesterday's discussion that Mr. Chow and Mr. Falvo might have been able to help you with.  


I was clear that today we're talking about the specific project that has been applied for, and that is the Bruce-to-Milton project.


MR. GIBBONS:  So I can't ask my questions about the alternative ones, then?


MR. NETTLETON:  What we have indicated, again, and what Mr. Schneider has confirmed with you today is that this panel is here to talk about the elements that relate to the project, the Bruce-to-Milton project.


MR. GIBBONS:  I hear you, Gordon.  I just want to have clarification.  If you say I can't ask these questions, that's fine.  It will be for another day.


MR. NETTLETON:  I think you can ask them, but these presenters are not here and are unable to answer, I think, the questions that you may have related to the material that was discussed yesterday.


MR. GIBBONS:  If I didn't ask the questions yesterday, mistakenly, I apologize.  I'm very sorry.  Again, I am not the brightest person in this room.  So we can move on.


My questions are about alternatives transmission lines, line losses and reliability.  I take it, panel, you can't help me on that?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Questions about alternatives I understood was the discussion of yesterday's panel and not today.


MR. GIBBONS:  So you can't help me, Mr. Schneider?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Correct.


MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.  

Peter has some questions.

Questions by Mr. Lanzalotta


MR. LANZALOTTA:  My questions mainly address the design of the line itself.


The first question is:  Are the line and the towers designed to accommodate live line maintenance?  Do we know this?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that information with me, but maybe at the break I can try and get something for you.


MR. LANZALOTTA:  That would be appreciated.  Thank you.


Another element of transmission-line design, while I have never heard anyone say that EMF has been proven to be harmful to health, when transmission lines are designed, there are a couple of techniques that can be used to minimize the electromagnetic field from these lines.  These techniques are sometimes referred to as prudent avoidance, meaning these techniques can reduce the magnetic field without adding a lot of additional costs to the line.  At least that is the concept.


One of the most frequently mentioned techniques is called reverse phasing, and I was wondering if anyone was familiar with that, number one; number two, was this concept incorporated into the design of these 500 kV circuits?


MR. McCORMICK:  I'm not going to profess to be an expert in design, but the answer is yes, and that will be part of this undertaking.


MR. LANZALOTTA:  Thank you very much.  That's all of the questions that I had.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  We hadn't discussed order and I see we're probably getting close to a break, so maybe we will take our morning break now and we will sort out the order for the rest of the day.  We will come back at five after 11:00.


--- Recess taken at 10:49 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 11:10 a.m. 

MR. MILLAR:  I think we will get started again.  I understand Mr. Pappas wishes to go next, but before we do so, Mr. Nettleton advises he has a preliminary matter to deal with.

MR. NETTLETON:  Right, and Mr. Millar, I see that two of our panel members aren't here yet.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  Why don't we go back off-line for a couple of minutes while we wait.


--- Off-the-record discussion


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Millar, I see our panel has returned and we can commence when convenient.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Then we will go back on the record.

Mr. Nettleton, you had a preliminary matter?  
Procedural matters


MR. NETTLETON:  I do.  Before the break, my friend Mr. Gibbons had indicated that he would have -- he has asked to see whether or not Mr. Chow from the Ontario Power Authority would be available today to address questions relating to line losses.

Two comments on that.  At the break I did have a chance to speak with Mr. Chow, and he has indicated to me that he is unavailable today.  But having said that, the issue of line losses was a matter that was talked about or discussed yesterday.

Mr. Gibbons did ask Mr. Chow specifically a question about the applicability of line losses, at page 53 of the transcript.

MR. GIBBONS:  Can I just interject?

MR. NETTLETON:  No, you may not.  If I could finish, then you can have your reply. 

Mr. Gibbons had the opportunity to ask the question regarding line losses, and the issue was dealt with by Mr. Chow in responses to that.  And at page 54 of the transcript, the way it was ended was Mr. Gibbons saying:
"Bob, I hear your argument but I have asked you a question.  Are you going to answer it or just wait for the order?"

I indicated at that time to Mr. Gibbons:
"Why don't you ask the question, and we will provide the interrogatory when you ask the interrogatory."
I think it was intended to mean:  We will look at the interrogatory once you have asked it.  That is at page 54 of the transcript.

So I just want to be clear on the record that this isn't some shell game that Hydro One has been playing, that Mr. Gibbons had the opportunity, and in fact did ask Mr. Chow questions about line losses, of the alternatives and the screening process, and that matter was discussed and there was no follow-up.  


So I just want it to be clear with parties and to ensure the record was clear on that pint.

MR. GIBBONS:  To clarify the record, this morning when I requested Mr. Chow or Mr. Shalaby or someone else from the OPA to come here and address my questions, those were not with respect to line losses, Gord.  My questions were with respect to the net present value of locked-in energy in the Bruce area under a number of scenarios.  


I never requested this morning anyone from the OPA to be brought here today to talk about line losses.  

I would still request that you get someone here, you do your best to get someone here from the OPA - Mr. Shalaby, Dr. Carr, I don't care who - to talk about the net present value of the locked-in energy in the Bruce area.

MR. NETTLETON:  Just with the assistance of Mr. Skalski here, who was in attendance at yesterday's proceeding, we will go back on the transcript and take a review of it.  But our recollection, Mr. Gibbons, is that, again, that topic was also discussed, and the amount of the calculations and the level of the analysis was touched upon by Mr. Chow in his responses.

We can go back and check at the break and perhaps we will, at the lunch break.  But as to your request, I have taken steps to see if Mr. Chow is available and he is not.

MR. GIBBONS:  You can review the transcript, Gord.  You will see that yesterday when I asked questions about economics, you specifically said that was for today's panel.

And I will repeat that I am not just requesting Mr. Chow.  The OPA is a very large, well-funded organization.  There are many other people other than Mr. Chow who can address this issue.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we will move on, unless there is anything more from Mr. Nettleton.  Perhaps this discussion can continue off-line.  I heard a suggestion that maybe over the break it would be discussed.

MR. NETTLETON:  There was one other matter and I will move on, because I think ultimately if there are additional questions that aren't to Mr. Gibbons' satisfaction, they can be dealt with through the interrogatory process.

The other matter that was raised, that we indicated we would look at at the break, was a question regarding line maintenance and live line maintenance.  Perhaps Mr. Schneider could help with that matter.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, I believe it was a question from Pollution Probe regarding whether or not we conduct live line maintenance on the 500 kV system.

I have checked with some of my colleagues, and the information I can give you to try and be helpful is the towers and the lines themselves are designed to allow for live line maintenance.  However, our practice is to conduct maintenance through getting outages on the system to do that maintenance, but they are designed that we could conduct it, if we needed to.

MR. LANZALOTTA:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Unless there are any further preliminary matters, we will move to Mr. Pappas.
Questions by Mr. Pappas 


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  Matters of cost.  Locked-in energy was mentioned.  Now, generation rejection and must-run penalties.  I do understand that the line is going to save us from those, from the two new, or two refurbished units coming on line.

But in general, in terms of must-run and generation rejection in general, what does it do for the grid?  

MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Pappas, we're having trouble with what the question is exactly.

MR. PAPPAS:  I'm sorry.  I will rephrase.  You have the two nuclear reactors coming on.  If the line is in place, it is going to save us from the cost of must-run penalties associated with generation rejection.  But what does it do for the rest of the grid?  Any other generation rejection that doesn't have anything to do with the new units?  What does this line -- how does it save us money?  How does it save us less must-run penalties?

MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Pappas, as I mentioned earlier in the discussion with Mr. Gibbons of Pollution Probe, we haven't included in the project economics any information regarding the generation-related consequences.

So any cost savings from locked-in energy or with respect to must-run contracts, anything on the generation side is not included in the application.

MR. PAPPAS:  So --

MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, if I could just finish.

MR. PAPPAS:  I'm sorry.

MR. SKALSKI:  That is concerned specifically in the Bruce area with respect to generation, but also applies, obviously, to the rest of the transmission system.

MR. PAPPAS:  I would like to know, if you could tell me, how much is Ontario pay now annually -- never mind the Bruce coming on right now.  How much have we been paying approximately annually in must-run penalties, due to generation rejection of any kind?

MR. SKALSKI:  This panel doesn't have that information, Mr. Pappas.  Again, we're a transmission company, so I don't think we would be privy to that information.

MR. PAPPAS:  Regarding the cost of series capacitance, you had a figure of $150 million as an estimated figure of doing the series capacitance.

Firstly, I have to wonder, do you have information on how that was arrived at?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that information with me.  That would have been information that OPA would have considered in their assessment of the alternatives.

MR. PAPPAS:  If it is being used in the near-term and interim measures, then it is not an alternative; right?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  As Mr. Chow described yesterday, if you remember the matrix that we had on the screen?

MR. PAPPAS:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That was in the context of looking at it from the perspective of a long-term measure.  It was presented that way in response to the questions we received in advance of the technical conference.


MR. PAPPAS:  In regards to that graph, I noticed that there were two "no"s, but everything else there was no answer.  And all of those could apply to financial matters that we're dealing with today.


Actually, would it be possible to put that screen up?


I do understand from what you explained, and you can correct me if I'm wrong, that all of these things were considered as they went through various screening processes and that once they dropped out, there was no reason to continue looking at the other questions.  For example, proven technology.  There was nothing to stop answering that.  That didn't seem to be -- is there some reason why, aside from what you said, that you couldn't look at those two proven, technology and consistent with land-use policy?


I will put it this way.  The screening results can be different simply by listing the requirements in a different order.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't believe that the screening results would have been different.  I suppose one can speculate as to what words would have appeared in those grey cells, but I think Bob Chow was quite clear yesterday in stating that the series capacitors in and of themselves did not meet the need as defined.


MR. PAPPAS:  I just needed that clarified more, because I wanted to be sure and I had another way of looking at it.  Thank you for that.


From yesterday, could you go to the screen "use of existing grid in the southwest".


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Could I ask what page number that is on?


MR. PAPPAS:  It would be the third actual page, but the second leaf.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Is that the slide?


MR. PAPPAS:  That's it.  Thank you very much.


I direct you to the second point, and from what I am reading here, according to what I am reading, it seems to say to me that the only need for this -- that the second point is the only real need for this line, and in that case it's simply not with any benefit to Ontario consumers.


So if you could tell me, do you agree with that comment?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I guess I want to start that this is an Ontario Power Authority slide.  I believe this was covered yesterday.  But I can say that the second dashed bullet is one of the two dashed bullets listed on the screen, and to presume or assert that that is the only reason why this part of the grid is an essential part of Ontario's transmission superhighways, as it states, is incorrect.  


Certainly, it says on the slide that one of the essential parts of this transmission superhighway is to deliver the Bruce area generation towards the GTA and the rest of the Ontario grid.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes, but could you tell me if you recall, when that was dealt with yesterday, the answer, I believe - and I could be corrected - was that the first bullet is actually just part of the second bullet.  When I asked if, in fact, it was to supply the GTA, the answer to me was, no, it was just to bring it down there so it could make it accessible to the rest of the province, because, as per your own policies, the GTA is to see a lot of new small transmission so that it does not have to depend upon outside sources.


So, again, it leaves the only real thing that is said there, after you say that, is import and export.  Again, I have to ask you:  Is that the main --?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  These are items that were covered yesterday.  I don't think I am in a position to respond to issues that were covered yesterday before, or not before reading the transcript from yesterday.


MR. PAPPAS:  Then perhaps you can say it a little differently or a little further.  What other need is there, then, other than exporting it to Michigan?  The transmission line.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Pappas, what Mr. Schneider has indicated to you is that the topics that were covered off yesterday, including need, were topics that were intended to be discussed and questions raised about those topics, raised and discussed yesterday.


We're on to different topics now, sir.  We're on to topics that were set out at the very beginning of this presentation and are listed on the cover of the handout that was provided today relating to cost, construction, schedule, economics, EA status, land matters and consultation.


So "need" is not something that this panel is in the position to speak to.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you for redirecting me.  I will get back to matters of cost.


Today's information.  Could you go to the page "Project Cost".  Again, it is the second leaf, third page.


Now, out of the estimated project cost I understood from what you said - you can correct me again if I'm wrong - that the contingency items are included in the estimated total project cost.  Is that right?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  There is a dollar estimate included in the project cost to account for the contingency items.


MR. PAPPAS:  Therefore, what I have to ask is:  Since we do have these different figures here that all add up to $635 million, could you give me -- what is the estimated cost of the contingency items, as included in the estimated total project cost?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I understand it to be approximately $30 million.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thirty.  Thank you.  The jog that you showed down in Halton, what was the cost difference of the jog or no jog?  Do you have any estimates on that?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, I don't have that information with me.


MR. PAPPAS:  Now, that jog was basically to accommodate industry in the area.


Is there any chance of a jog for the Niagara escarpment?  And what costs would be associated, if there was?  

MR. McCORMICK:  The environmental assessment will look at a number of refinements, and the project is subject to a permit under the Niagara Escarpment Planning & Development Act.  The costs of doing that hasn't been determined, because we don't have an assessment of whether it is reasonable, feasible, what exactly would be done.  That is an EA matter.

MR. PAPPAS:  Perhaps you could tell me.  Maybe that should be part of a due-diligence study before -- you did intend to go across the Niagara Escarpment, am I correct?

MR. McCORMICK:  The transmission line does go across the Niagara Escarpment, yes.

MR. PAPPAS:  I am going to ask you.  It just seems to me that if you had to consider doing that, and you had to consider that there may be changes, it just seems to me -- could you tell me why that wouldn't have been looked at already, in terms of cost?  Because obviously there is something that can cost a lot.  Is there some reason why you couldn't have done an estimated study earlier?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Pappas, what Mr. McCormick indicated was that this project requires an environmental-assessment approval.

The environmental-assessment approval process is one that starts with defining the scope of the environmental assessment that is to be carried out, and that process is referred to as the terms-of-reference process.  Effectively, the terms of reference define what factors are going to be considered and taken into account in the environmental assessment that's to be carried out.

Right now, we are going through a process with the Ministry of Environment on understanding what the terms of reference for this project are going to be.  And those environmental assessment steps are happening at the same time as the OEB process is being carried out.

MR. PAPPAS:  I understand that.  That wasn't the nature of my question.  Regardless of what the EA leads to, you still have this issue ahead of you; and since the cost, depending on what you do - regardless of the EA - could vary, it just -- isn't this, then, putting the cart before the horse, the leave to construct before the EA application?

MR. McCORMICK:  We are certainly dealing with a very different regulatory environment, where we have a very short timeline and we had to run two processes concurrently.  We felt that was the best approach.

We have put forward a reference route that had certain risks attached to it, but that was our best guess at the state of where the project was at that time, as to the likely outcome.

We have also admitted in the terms of reference that we will be looking at route refinements.  Again, if those route refinements are determined to be more appropriate, have significant advantages, then that will be put forward and brought back to the Ontario Energy Board.

So it is not putting the cart before the horse.  It is sort of doing the things in the right way.  The environmental-assessment process will provide opportunities for the public to be involved in looking at options, refinement options, providing us feedback before we make any decisions.  


So for us to say something else is going to work, would be more acceptable is premature.

MR. PAPPAS:  My question there would be, is:  Do you feel that there wasn't enough time to do these studies and that's why you are waiting on the EA?  I mean the financial studies of what would happen if you had to do this or that.

MR. McCORMICK:  I believe one is dependent on the other.  You're going to do a financial study of a route that you haven't defined.  You're talking about a refinement to how the reference route currently crosses the Niagara Escarpment Commission lands.  We haven't determined whether that is appropriate or what exactly that route would be.  So how could we do the economics on that?

MR. PAPPAS:  Then I have to ask this.  From things done in other projects, I notice that this project didn't include sub-routes.  Is there some reason why you don't do things that way now?  As opposed to in many previous large – well, the 1986.  Is there some reason why you wouldn't consider sub-routes?

MR. McCORMICK:  Could you please explain what you mean by "sub-routes"?


MR. PAPPAS:  In 1986 when they proposed a certain line, Ontario Hydro, the map of the line and the study and that had three separate sub-routes coming out of Bruce, and then eventually coming to a point where there was only one route.  You had three choices.

This line has no choices built into the study.  There is the line.  They included a couple of zigs and zags ahead.  There is no such inclusion here.  That is what I'm saying.  The Niagara Escarpment, for example, is a case where I would imagine, in those earlier studies, they would have been built right into the study from the application several sub-routes to possibly accommodate the situation.  Now each sub-route would have different costs.  

I have to ask, is there some reason why you didn't include any sub-routes in the submission?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I just first want to differentiate between routes and corridors.  I think Bob was quite clear yesterday that Bruce-to-Milton was the only corridor that met the needs and the factors under consideration for the project. 

In terms of route refinements - and I think that is what you're getting at when you say sub-routes - I have been, I think, clear that there are at least three on the table right now, that we have learned through our consultations on both the Section 92 and the EA terms of reference, those being one in the Hanover area, one in the Halton Hills area and one in the Camp Creek area.  


If you're suggesting an additional refinement to consider in the EA, that being around the Niagara Escarpment, we would be happy to listen about that information and as the EA TOR suggests, we would be looking at refinements should they be raised to us through the process.

MR. PAPPAS:  Except what I was pointing out was that when they designed this other particular route, in the application itself, the refinements, as you call them, which in this case were sub-routes, they were all considered -- the things you just told me about are still a straight line.  They're not really alternates in route form.

These older studies included definite different routes that would then eventually hit a line where there were no more sub-routes.  It was certainly going through.

So these route alternatives, which could have a great difference in cost depending how you go, they were included initially in the applications.  Not done later, not EA, in the initial applications.  So I have to ask, with such a major thing as that, why couldn't that have been considered in the original application?  It doesn't even matter about EA.  It is a matter of cost.

MR. NETTLETON:  Actually, Mr. Pappas, with due respect, there is a significant difference between the process that was used in 1986 and today's process, and that difference really relates to the fact that the regulatory process that was used in '86 was a joint consolidated hearing.  It was a process where the three elements - the three regulatory processes of environmental assessment, OEB approval, and expropriation - were all wrapped up into one.

That is not the process, that's not the regulatory form that we have today.  What we have today is an application that is before this Board, that relates to matters concerning Section 92 of the OEB Act.  That is the only matter before this Board.  That is leave to construct, and the Act is clear as to what factors this Board can take into account.

The other approval that is being sought by Hydro One relates to the environmental-assessment approval.  And that is a separate, stand-alone process that is not what existed, or is different from what happened back in 1986.

So that's a significant difference in terms of the regulatory steps and processes involved.

But we hear what you're saying, in terms of what you have observed from the 1986 decision, where different route refinements were included in the main of the application, and you are quite right in thinking that in this application before the Ontario Energy Board there is one reference route that is applied for, and that is all that has been applied for.

At the outset of the proceeding into the Motions Day proceeding, there was great discussion about that fact and whether there should be changes to the application to reflect that.

I think what you're suggesting, by way of suggestion, is that we should be considering whether other route refinements should be included.  Is that fair?

MR. PAPPAS:  From the beginning.  Just as I said, as they did then.  I mean, it's not a surprise that the Niagara escarpment is there.  It's not something that is going to come up later like many other things in the application.  It just seems to me that the importance of how that is treated and the financial cost of how you treat it is something that should have been included in the original application.  It's not like a little zig or zag that we may have further on.  This is a major one.  So, therefore, it is something that just should have been considered from the very beginning.

Depending on what has to be done and the environmental assessment, it seems to me that you should be considering those in advance, because who knows what the possible cost difference is going to be from which way you choose to deal with that.  

So that is basically what I'm asking.  For something as serious as that, that you know is there, why wouldn't you have included cost estimates on different approaches in the initial application?

It isn't really a matter of the assessment.  The assessment only decides at the end.  Because of the financial costs in building the line, it just seems to me that is something that should have been done.  To me, it is sort of like the financial due-diligence study.

MR. McCORMICK:  Let me try.  The project must cross Niagara Escarpment Commission lands.  What's the most reasonable first step, and that is the reference route, parallel the existing line.  


We acknowledge that we have a permit to obtain from Niagara Escarpment Commission.  We have received feedback from them already at a couple of meetings and through their comments on the terms of reference.  So we know that we are going to be looking at alternatives or mitigation measures to respond to their requirements.

But at this point in time, we don't have well-defined options that could be costed.  We don't have a sound basis for assuming that divergence from the reference route will be necessary to meet their requirements, but that is a matter of ongoing discussion.

MR. PAPPAS:  So financially, we have the project costs here, but -- I guess I have to ask it this way.  Depending on what happens with the EA, is there a chance that contingency items are going to run far in excess of $30 million?

MR. McCORMICK:  The contingencies do include some allowances for that, but, you know, the approval processes are beyond our control.  We can't be certain as to the outcomes, but there is a contingency factor that allows for design changes.

MR. PAPPAS:  I am thinking in terms of the expropriation costs, the land acquisition and that.  So I wonder if you could tell me this.

On the Bruce-to-London line, because, again, this is going to be a matter of the cost of land acquisition and that, so on the Bruce to London line, what is the width of that corridor?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Again, that was an alternative dealt with yesterday.  I don't have that information here.  Possibly at the lunch break we can get that for you.

MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  My next question would be, the corridor that you are looking at right now, obviously it's not wide enough for the extra line.  That's why you have to expropriate land.  I am just wondering, is there enough width still left on that corridor to put another line?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  For Bruce to Milton?

MR. PAPPAS:  No.  From Bruce to London, the wide corridor you have over there.  Is there enough space on the width of that line to build another line without expropriating property, or is it too narrow?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Pappas, that option was discussed yesterday as it related to how it was screened out.

Again, this panel is here to talk about the prefiled evidence that has been filed in this application related to the approval of the Bruce-to-Milton.

I am not sure that any of these gentlemen are going to be able to help you with questions related to land quantities related to a route that isn't the subject matter of this application.

MR. PAPPAS:  I was only asking in terms of the costs of land acquisition.  Obviously if there was a route, then, yes, I understand you're not considering that route.  But I still simply had to ask, because obviously if there was a route that was still the property of a power corridor and it had space to put towers in without -- then it would be cheaper.  It obviously would be cheaper, because you wouldn't have to buy all of these properties.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I guess I just want to remind you - and, again, it's based on yesterday - that Bruce-to-Longwood was not ruled out on that basis.  It didn't meet the need as defined by the OPA.

So I am a little confused as to why we would want to look into width of that corridor if it simply didn't meet the need.

MR. PAPPAS:  Just as facts in the case.  Obviously, if there is a corridor that is wide enough, some of the other considerations that we looked at in the course of this may say that perhaps the line should be built where the land is already owned.

There are other considerations.  You still have the EA.  What if the EA goes against what you want?  What are you going to do?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Going back to that Longwood option, it simply didn't meet the capability need.  As I mentioned yesterday and I believe I mentioned today, even if you built it -- again, it didn't meet the need, but if you built it, it would be approximately $400 million more expensive simply because of the length of the line relative to the Bruce-to-Milton project.

MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  I think this is probably the last thing I am going to ask here.

Now, I know you have a certain stand on talking further about line loss, but I just have to ask this.  A line-loss assessment, would that not be a component of the due-diligence study that you are continuing to do regarding the series capacitors?

I guess I have to ask this:  How much can be saved by using such technology to conserve power, because the simple fact is, regardless of everything else -- yes.  Will that be a component?  Obviously the due-diligence study isn't done, so I know you haven't considered it.  But the due-diligence study, are you going to consider the line-loss assessment?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Just a couple of things.  I believe Bob, in his presentation yesterday, stated that the line-loss issue was addressed in the evaluation and the screening.  I believe Mr. Nettleton quoted from the transcript earlier.

Secondly, the due-diligence study is an OPA study.  I don't believe I am in a position to say whether or not those items are included in the study that they have commissioned.

MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  I will just sign off now.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Pappas.

Mr. Sperduti, I was thinking of going till about 12:30.  Do you think you can give us at least half an hour of your questions, and we'll see where we are then?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Sure.
Questions by Mr. Sperduti


MR. SPERDUTI:  I wonder if you could pull up the map showing the proposed route of the line from Bruce to Milton.

I ask these questions as they relate to project cost and risk factors.  The first line of questioning I have is this.  You indicated that between Bruce and Kincardine, there were only five properties which would be required, if you will, in order to accommodate the new line.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe I stated approximately five, maybe a little more, maybe a little less, that are privately held lands, where new land rights are required.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Between Kincardine and Milton, how many homes will have to be bought out because they're directly in the path of the new line?  How many homes or significant buildings?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe I stated previously, approximately 30 situations exist where there is either a residence or a major farm or commercial building on the expanded right-of-way.

MR. SPERDUTI:  How does the cost of acquisition of those 30 properties compare to the cost of the Bruce-to-Essa option which was touched upon yesterday?  But we're dealing with economics today.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Are you asking a specific question regarding the buyout of properties?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Let me ask it in two parts.  How many homes or significant buildings would have had to be bought out, if the Bruce-to-Essa option were put forward rather than the Bruce to Milton option?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Again, that wouldn't be information I have.  As Bob discussed yesterday, the Bruce-to-Essa option was screened out on the basis of not meeting the need as defined.  So there was no additional assessment in terms of what you are asking for.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So in terms of understanding the grey boxes which we saw in the chart, is it fair, then, to say that if there is a gray box, there was no study of that risk factor, or that criteria?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Those factors were considered for the options.  But in constructing the screening, there was no need to continue with that work once the option was screened out.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Would you be so kind as to put that screen back up for a sec?  Just bear with me.  I want to find something in the filed evidence.  


I'm looking at Exhibit B, Tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 4.  When were these screening results completed?

MR. MILLAR:  Let's just let the guys get the material up.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Oh, yes.

MR. SKALSKI:  Do we have a page number, Mr. Sperduti?

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am looking at page 2 of 4. Exhibit B, 6, 5, appendix 4, page 2 of 4.

MR. SKALSKI:  We have it.

MR. NETTLETON:  This is the letter dated March 23rd, 2007?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, it is, that's right.  That is a letter dated March 23rd, 2007, from Jan Carr to Laura Formusa.  

If you flip over to the second page of that document, which is on the reverse in the copy that I have in front of me, we see reference to -- just under the map there, it says:
"In the past months OPA, Hydro One and IESO staff have assessed the technical impacts of two options, Bruce to Milton and Bruce to Essa.  These studies revealed..."
Then it goes on to reveal what the studies say.  

That was in March of 2007.  My question to you is:  If the Bruce-to-Essa option was being considered as late as March of 2007, at least it looks to me like it was being short-listed by OPA, when were these screening studies completed that we see on the chart?  

MR. SCHNEIDER:  The screening was conducted by OPA, and I can -- in looking further down in the letter under the conclusion on page 3, where they state:
"We have concluded that the Bruce-to-Milton option is the only alternative that meets the overall need."

It goes on to explain that, that they would have conducted that work to get to that conclusion.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I understand that, but what I had asked you about before was whether you could tell us how many homes or significant structures would have to be bought out in the Bruce-to-Essa option.

The response that you gave was:  We didn't look at that because the screening results say it didn't satisfy the need, and we never took it beyond that.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Let me clarify.  The OPA did the screening.  The OPA wouldn't have looked at that.  They were looking at the screening criteria you see on the top of the slide.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So you don't have that information?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that information with me, correct.

MR. SPERDUTI:  If you were to find out that, rather than 30 homes or structures would be required, only about five would have to be required using that option, would that affect the decision about whether or not to go that route?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, Mr. Schneider has repeatedly indicated to you today, and Mr. Chow repeatedly indicated to you yesterday, that the Bruce-to-Essa option was screened out, not on the basis of number of buyouts, but on the basis that it didn't meet the need.  That is what the letter that you have referred to in this exhibit says.

So if it doesn't meet the need, why would there be any relevance in considering the option further?

MR. SPERDUTI:  We haven't seen any of the backup material for ourselves, so none of us can assess whether or not it meets the need.  We have to take your word for it, at least for now.  But I am trying to understand the relative cost of the options.

But I accept, if you tell me that you don't have it, you don't have it.  So I will move on.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I guess the technical conference, as I understand it, is to explain what is in the evidence and how the work was conducted.  What we're telling you is that this table represents how the options were screened, and how Bruce-to-Milton was selected as the proposed approach.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I have heard that mantra quite a bit the last couple of days, so you can spare me repeating it again.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, actually, we're going to be repeating it continually as long as you keep asking the questions that beg that type of response.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Mr. Nettleton, you can repeat it as often as you want.  I don't think that it is going to curry any favour with any of the people who are opposed to this project to hear you tell us that you're not going to answer questions.  But respond as you want.

Now, going back, please, Mr. Schneider, to that map of the routes.  You talked about a consideration of some modification to what you call the Hanover dip.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  We referred to them as a local refinement.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I understand the evidence of one of the other panel members, that that's something that's being explored as part of the EA?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Consideration will be given to that area for a local refinement.

MR. SPERDUTI:  What specifically is being considered as the refinement?  What refinement will be considered as part of the EA?

MR. McCORMICK:  We will take a look at whether there is any options to the dip that would have significant advantages, lesser impacts.

MR. SPERDUTI:  When you say "advantages", do you mean advantages to the transmission capabilities or advantages to cost?

MR. McCORMICK:  No.  In the environmental-assessment process, we look at the full range of technical, economic environmental, including socioeconomic factors.

MR. SPERDUTI:  You're not doing that in this process, though?

MR. McCORMICK:  We haven't done it yet.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Just so I understand, is the proposal to straighten the route out there?  What options are being considered for that Hanover dip?

MR. McCORMICK:  We haven't defined options.  We're really waiting for the terms of reference to be approved, and then we will be going out and talking further with those affected.

We have met with PowerLine Connections, as you know, and some of your members have proposed certain things.  But at this stage of the game, we don't have different alignments that we would compare.

MR. SPERDUTI:  If you were to use a different alignment, is there an existing line that runs on a different alignment through Hanover, or is the only line that runs through there the dip?  There are no other lines that cross through that area that...

MR. McCORMICK:  There are no lines that would be parallel.

MR. SPERDUTI:  This is supposed to be an informal process and I need to understand what is being considered, because some people are going to ask me why I couldn't get a definitive answer at the technical conference.  Can you help me understand?  Are there one, or two, or three alternatives to that dip which are short-listed, or is it so grey right now that you just don't know what you might do in that area?

MR. McCORMICK:  At this stage, we know that individuals have expressed concerns about the reference route alignment through there, and we are going to be listening to them and we are going to hopefully work closely with them and anybody else who might be affected to see if there are alternatives.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, for the benefit of everyone else in the room, might it be useful to have Mr. McCormick explain the bend and the idea of the reroute?  It might clarify what we are talking about here.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am happy to have him do that.  Go ahead, sir.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. McCormick, is it the case that there is a bend or an elbow in the current route?

MR. McCORMICK:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Could you just explain the concern and what the terms of reference are addressing or attempting to address?

MR. McCORMICK:  The fundamental concern is it would appear, in the eyes of those who are affected by the proposed line, and, in fact, the existing facilities, they would like to see another alternative, and the arguments to us are, If you went through to a straight line, isn't it cheaper?  That may well be the case.  

But it also affects other people.  There could be environmental effects.  There could be quite a range of potential effects diverging from that.  Of course, it is also, in a very small way, going contrary to the provincial policy statement that was referred to yesterday.

So the existing lines that were constructed planned to come into Hanover through the Hanover transformer station, and then come back out and follow pretty much a projection of the alignment from the Bruce area all the way into Colbeck junction.

So our intent is to be responsive to their concerns.  We understand that they would prefer not to see another line adjacent to the existing one, and they're asking us to look to see if there is an option and we have agreed to do that.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So I understand it, that is being considered as part of the environmental assessment, which, according to the time schedule that you have set forward in the material you presented today, is going to extend well beyond what this Board has established for the date for the hearing of the leave to construct.

So my question is:  If the decision in the EA process is made to eliminate the dip or deal with it in some other fashion, how are you going to work that back into the leave-to-construct application which you are seeking approval for?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, this takes us back to the initial motions day, where I believe this issue was raised of, if there were amendments coming out of the EA process that affected the approval that had been granted by the OEB of the reference route, what would we do.


I think at the time we said, if there were amendments that were required, we would be coming back to the OEB.  So if the approval that had been granted was one that required some form of amendment based on the outcome of the environmental-assessment process, that was and has been the intention.

Now, subsequent to that, what we have heard is that there is concern from the Board that things do not get out of step, that the OEB and the EA process remain in step.

We are taking into account and are obviously very sensitive to those views that the Board has expressed, and we are thinking about that as this process moves forward.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Taking that thought that Mr. Pappas planted about why aren't you considering sub-routes, would it not be more efficient and effective in the use of this Board's time to include the short-listed idea or ideas for the elimination of the Hanover jog as a potential sub-route within this process?  Wouldn't that be more efficient?

If it is more efficient, why is that not something that is being considered at this time?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, again, I think what Mr. McCormick indicated was that we are now in the process of having some clarity being provided to the environmental-assessment process, namely the approval of the terms of reference.

Once we have some understanding about that, we were and are planning to consider what the next step should be, if any change to the process.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So I am trying to find an answer in there somewhere.  I think what I hear you saying is that after the terms of reference for the EA are approved, which, if they were approved in their current form, would include an indication of a willingness to reconsider this dip, if they're approved, then you will modify the application for leave before the Energy Board?

MR. NETTLETON:  I didn't say that, sir.  What I said was we're mindful of the words of caution and concern that the Board expressed relating to ensuring that the OEB process and the EA process are kept in sync.  The specific concern that was raised was the timing of the approval of the terms of reference, and we're mindful of that.  Any changes that we make to the applied-for OEB application, I think, are going to be taking those considerations into account.


But as I said at the outset, during Motions Day we made it quite clear that the route that we have applied for, and that the only route that is before the Board for its consideration, is the reference route.

If there are detailed route refinements that require adjustments or amendments to any approval that has been granted, at that time what was considered was that that type of amendment would be made and filed with the Board, once there was good reason and reason for doing that.  

But that is not now.  That hasn't been now.  We don't even have approved terms of reference.

MR. SPERDUTI:  We have differing views about the importance of the approved terms of reference.  One might suggest we ought not even to be here until the terms of reference are approved.  But it is what it is.  So I am going to ask the question again, and hope that I get an answer.  

The question is:  Rather than get an approval from this Board based on a route that could potentially change in the EA process, and then have to come back and redo your leave application, would it not be more efficient to consider a sub-route within this process, and then let this Board grant or not grant the leave to construct based on the better option?

So the question is:  Would you not save time and money doing the sub-route; and, if you would save time and money, why isn't it being done?

MR. NETTLETON:  Again, Mr. Sperduti, what is before the Board is a question of whether the applied-for route should be approved or rejected.  It is not the case, to our knowledge, that the Board can pick a route.

So in order for an adjustment to be made to the applied-for route, there has to be some basis upon which that route amendment is made.  What we have said all along is that if there was a route refinement required, that is to say required from the EA process, we would make it following the completion of the EA process, so that there was a clear basis upon which that amendment would be brought to the OEB's attention.

I think what you are suggesting, Mr. Sperduti, if I understand you correctly, is why wait until these route refinements have gone through the EA process.  Is that fair?

MR. SPERDUTI:  No.  What I am saying is, if you are going to apply for leave to construct and deny that the EA process is applicable, and on the other hand admit that there may be a refinement that will affect the permission-to-construct application coming out of that EA process, why don't we wrap it up into one, in order to save the cost and time of everybody here?

I am not suggesting that it is inappropriate to make a modification, at least not at this time I'm not suggesting that.

What I am suggesting is that rather than put forward, from a technical perspective, only one route and apply for permission to construct on that basis, why not let us see what the option is to eliminate the Hanover dip, and study it now and make it part of this process so that the Board will have a more fulsome understanding of the alternatives?

MR. NETTLETON:  As Mr. McCormick has said, and we have said in the past, the issue of route refinements is a matter that is being considered as part of the EA process.  


The environmental assessment issues are not matters within this Board's jurisdiction.  This Board's jurisdiction relates to price, quality, and reliability of electricity service.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Not that I got an answer, Mr. Nettleton, but I will just get the same one again if I ask it again, so there is no sense in wasting more time.

Has any consideration been given, from a technical perspective and a cost perspective, to crossing over and tracking the existing right-of-way on the west side as opposed to on the east side?  Or the south side as opposed to the north side, depending on how you are looking at this.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Can you be specific about where you are talking about, in terms of a crossover? 


I'm being reminded, Mr. Sperduti, that you may have missed part of the presentation where there was a discussion of placing the line on the north and east side.  Were you here for that?


MR. SPERDUTI:  I missed the first few minutes this morning.  I probably missed that discussion.  Indulge me and let me hear it again, please.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Sure.  The placement of the line on the north and east side of the corridor, north from Bruce to Colbeck junction and east from Colbeck to Milton was based on a couple of considerations related to crossing existing 500 kV lines.

As you can see on the map, there is a 500 kV line leaving the corridor in east Kincardine, going down to London.  That is the line -- going down to Longwood -- that was discussed yesterday.

What we try to do is avoid crossing 500 kV lines, for a couple of reasons.  One is a cost reason.  The cost of constructing such a crossover is in excess of $5 million to do such a crossover.

Secondly, from a technical perspective, it introduces complications from a technical operating and a maintenance perspective, to doing so.

That led us to place the line on the north side of the corridor coming out of the Bruce Power facility.  

Now, particular to that area and I believe you are aware of this point, in Kincardine for the first 15 or 20 kilometres or so, there is enough publicly held land currently there that comprises the existing corridor to place the new line on the north side, so that additional land rights from private landowners -- for the most part, in that area -- are not required.  So for those reasons the line was placed, the reference route was identified as on the north side of the existing corridor.

Of course, we follow that north side all the way down the corridor into Milton.

MR. SPERDUTI:  From a technical perspective, has any cost-benefit analysis been done about crossing over to the other side of the existing right-of-way, say, south of Hanover, in comparison to the cost of continuing along the north side?  Has that cost-benefit analysis been done?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  As I mentioned, there wouldn't be a technical reason I could think of to doing that crossover.  Once you have placed the line on one side of the corridor, it is best for technical and cost reasons, to stay on that side.

So as far as crossing over, I suppose that the three local refinements we had spoken about previously, one of those, I may imagine, could include a consideration of a crossover, but for reasons that would be specific to those suggestions about those types of local refinements.

MR. SPERDUTI:  One of the things that I understand from discussions with my clients is that switching the line over to the west side or the south side will result in a significant reduction in the number of homes or structures that will have to be bought out, because they won't any longer be in the path of the route.  That is what I have been told by various people in my group.

So if you can just assume with me for a moment that that is true.  That is the basis for my asking the question.  I want to understand whether Hydro One has, or would be prepared to consider a cost-benefit analysis associated with switching the route over south of Hanover, and compare the relative cost of land acquisition and construction in either option.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, we're back to the area that we left yesterday, the idea of asking for additional analysis in this, the technical conference process.

As you are, I hope, aware, that type of question is normally one that is saved for the interrogatory process.  If the analysis has been prepared, it would be produced in that form, but not before.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Has the cost-benefit analysis been done?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I'm not aware of a cost-benefit analysis being done.  I would imagine if a local refinement was suggested in the EA process, if they would have to do such a change that you are suggesting, looking at it from a socioeconomic perspective, it would be done as part of the EA.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Again, this is another one of those off-in-the-distant-future EA things that by we will worry about in that process, but not in this process?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I think to your specific question about -- or maybe it was a statement you made about whether there are more or less structures affected on either side of the right-of-way, we can certainly take a look at a question of that nature in the IR process of this proceeding so it wouldn't have to wait for the EA.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I will certainly take it up as an IR.  I am just trying to understand, technically, what has gone into your cost-benefit analysis.

So if you haven't done it, you haven't done it.

If you could, Mr. Schneider, put on the screen the screen about the costs.  Yes.  I am just going to look at a document in the filings which is at Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2.

MR. NETTLETON:  Which page, sir?

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am looking at page 3 of 5.  Are we all together?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Help me understand.  The cost numbers for the line are different in the prefiling as opposed to the slide that I am looking at.

Specifically, I see a total line cost of $567 million in the prefiled material, and I see a line cost of $555 million on the slide.  Which is the right cost?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, table 4 has an asterisk beside total line cost.  It says "includes preliminary engineering and study".  That is the 15 million that is shown on the slide.

MR. SPERDUTI:  It is nice to have a lawyer answering a question like that, but I would rather have the technical panellists.

MR. NETTLETON:  You know what, Mr. Sperduti?  That's the beauty of technical conferences.  We're here to try and facilitate answers.  Something as simple as that, I am just trying to get you the answer as fast as possible.  

MR. SPERDUTI:  Does the project costs on the screen include land costs?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, it does.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Where?  In line?

MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Sperduti, do you see there is a line item on page 3 of 5, under table 4, called "Land"?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, I see that.  I am asking about the screen.  I am asking about what is on the screen.

MR. SKALSKI:  Right.  If the total cost on the screen reconciles to the total cost in the evidence, then by inference aren't the land costs included?

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am just asking.  The land costs are included in this project-cost estimate on the screen?

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, they are.

MR. SPERDUTI:  In the line item where it says "line"?

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, correct.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I presume that, then, the discrepancy between the total cost of station work in tables 2 and 3 of the prefiled material are also accounted for by the preliminary engineering and studies?

MR. SKALSKI:  That's correct.  Of the 15 million in preliminary engineering, 12 million has been allocated to the line cost and 3 million to the station cost, and that is the reason for the $3 million difference between the $68 million station cost shown in table 2 and the $65 million station cost shown in the presentation.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Good.  When were these project costs prepared?

MR. SKALSKI:  In advance of application being filed.  In March.

MR. SPERDUTI:  They were prepared in March, or they were prepared earlier than March?

MR. SKALSKI:  They would have been prepared somewhat earlier as part of the preparation of the application.

MR. SPERDUTI:  If I understand what's happening right now correctly, pursuant to the early access order, there are appraisals being completed.  Am I right about that?

MR. THOMSON:  That's correct.  There are appraisals being done now.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So presumably when this material was filed, there were no appraisals completed?

MR. THOMSON:  No, there were not, on individual properties.  We did a preliminary market-value assessment along the line.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Is that how you came up with 125 million for land?

MR. THOMSON:  That was a component of it.  If you refer to the acquisition process chart that Gary had on the screen.  Box number 5 indicates the formal compensation offers and the basis.  There is four items, four components.

On the basis of the 125 million, we did our preliminary market-value assessment for the market value of the rights required, and the other components we used as a contingency.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So your preliminary assessment of market value is included in the land allowance in table 4 of Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2?

MR. THOMSON:  Of the $125 million, yes.

MR. SPERDUTI:  And the other items, injurious affection, entitlements under the Expropriation Act and applicable allowances, those are contingency items?

MR. THOMSON:  No.  The $125 million was a combination of all of those four components.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I see.

MR. THOMSON:  Not the just the market value for the right-of-way, no.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I see, I see.  Mr. Gibbons was asking you about project cost overruns and the potential for project cost overruns.

How can we be assured that the $125 million estimate for land-acquisition costs, which you tell us includes injurious affection, is accurate when the number was prepared before appraisal reports were completed?

MR. THOMSON:  As I indicated, there are ongoing appraisals being done on the individual properties to assess both market value for the right-of-way, along with the other components.

If there was any update required, that would be part of the contingency that we put into the project.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think what Mr. Thomson is saying is that as the appraisal reports are produced, if there is some reason for us to update or amend the application to reflect a different and significant cost estimate in our forecast, we would do that. 

As you know, Mr. Sperduti, the appraisal process is underway.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Do you expect to have all of the appraisals completed before the end of this year?

MR. THOMSON:  The plan is that they would be completed by the end of the year, but we still will be probably not making formal offers to owners until sometime early in the new year.

MR. SPERDUTI:  After the scheduled hearing of the leave to construct?

MR. THOMSON:  I'm not sure.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Who prepared this analysis to come up with the $125 million for land?

MR. THOMSON:  Based on the preliminary market-value assessment, you mean?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.

MR. THOMSON:  It was done by third parties, appraisers.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Did you provide those third parties with terms of reference?

MR. THOMSON:  I wasn't involved in the process of how that was done, so I can't really answer your question.

But the idea was that we certainly were not looking on an individual basis for each property.  We were looking at an overall rate along the line.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Are you an appraiser, Mr. Thomson?

MR. THOMSON:  I have background in appraisal.  I'm not an ACI.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Then I can ask a couple of technical questions about this as it relates to cost.  The assessment of injurious affection which you indicated is part of the $125 million number --

MR. THOMSON:  I indicated that was part of the other three components of the $125 million.  But in regards to that specific component, I can't provide you with what that breakdown was, no.

MR. SPERDUTI:  You can't provide it today.  It may be the subject of an IR, but I accept that.

Without looking at each specific property to assess the impact of the line on that particular property, how did the appraisers come up with an assessment of injurious affection?  It is a very property-specific allowance.

MR. THOMSON:  Correct.  That is why I indicated it was part of a contingency, because we weren't sure.  We weren't doing individual appraisals, so therefore we did not put it in as a separate item, because, as you say, individual properties were not appraised.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Do you have any information about what contingency was allowed?  Was it a percentage of the total land cost?

MR. THOMSON:  I don't know that.

MR. NETTLETON:  As Mr. Schneider indicated, and as the application shows, Mr. Sperduti, there was an amount of $28 million for contingencies, and in the slide it shows that land costs are part of that contingency.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Mr. Nettleton, I am confused now, because I thought that Mr. Thomson and I were on the same page with what was included in the $125 million.

I thought I heard Mr. Thomson say - and I am happy to be corrected if I am mistaken - that the $125 million in this schedule in the prefiled materials includes market value, injurious affection and other Expropriation Act entitlements.

MR. THOMSON:  Correct.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So the $28 million we see on the contingency side of the slide, that has nothing to do with what I am asking you.

MR. NETTLETON:  There are two different concepts here.  The first concept is:  What's in the 125?  And the answer that Mr. Thomson provided was the four components.  

Then the next question is:  Mr. Thomson, are the four components that are displayed on the chart included in the 125 number?

MR. THOMSON:  Yes, they are.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. SPERDUTI:  What four components are they?

MR. NETTLETON:  The four components shown in the box.  This box here:  market values of rights required, injurious affection, entitlements under the Expropriation Act, and applicable allowances.  That comprises the $125 million amount.  


In addition to that, and because of the nature of the forecasted cost, there is also provision - as Mr. Schneider went through in his slides today - for contingency for land costs that have not been forecast.  And that contingency amount is what Mr. Schneider indicated to be -- $30 million, approximately?  I think the application shows $28 million.

MR. SPERDUTI:  And that contingency includes all of those other allowances as well, delays to schedule, design changes, construction conditions; that is all wrapped up in the $28 million?

MR. NETTLETON:  It is one line item called "contingency" in the application, and I think the purpose of this slide was to show that that contingency is intended to reflect or contemplate these types of difficult items to forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Sperduti, I see we're getting past 12:30 now.  Would it be a convenient time to take a break, or do you want to finish up this line of questioning first?

MR. SPERDUTI:  I'm happy to take a break now and take it up when we resume.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we come back at quarter to two.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:49 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Are we ready, Gord?


MR. NETTLETON:  I think Mr. Skalski is about to take his seat.  So we are ready?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  We're back.  Mr. Sperduti, did you wish to continue with your questions?


MR. SPERDUTI:  I do.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Questions by Mr. Sperduti (cont'd)


MR. SPERDUTI:  We were looking, before the break, at Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2, and I wanted to take you back to that page, if I could.


Now, Mr. Thomson, there may be some confusion on the record, so I just want to get it cleared up with you.


Looking at the land allowance and the cost of line work on that page, what is included and what is not included in that $125,000?


MR. THOMSON:  $125 million?


MR. SPERDUTI:  $125 million, my apologies.


MR. THOMSON:  Yes.  For clarification purposes - and I am glad you have asked the question, Mr. Sperduti - the $125 million includes the four components that are shown on the acquisition process chart, which is inclusive of market value, injurious affection, entitlements under the Expropriation Act and applicable allowances.  


That $125 million includes those four components, and the amount that's shown below it, which is the $28 million on that exhibit, is for the overall project.  So that is not part of the $125 million.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Built into that $28 million, is there an additional contingency in that $28 million for land costs not anticipated, or other things?


MR. THOMSON:  If you look at some of the itemized contingency items below, land-cost variability is one of those.  There are other things involved in it.  I believe, Gary, you had a chart that showed some of the items that the contingency included.


MR. NETTLETON:  Just for the record, we're looking at table 4 on page 3 of 5 of Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2.  The itemized points that Mr. Thomson was referring to are those shown at lines 15 through 20, and over the page, to lines 1 through 6 on page 4 of 5.


MR. SPERDUTI:  You can't help me, at least not at the present time, to understand what component of the $28 million for risks and contingencies is related to land-cost variability?


MR. THOMSON:  No.  Not in regards to the land-cost variability, no.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Okay.  Now, you indicated, also, before the break, that Hydro One contracted with third parties to prepare this evaluation of the land-cost budgeting component.


MR. THOMSON:  Yes, that was a preliminary market-value assessment over the entire line.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Can you help me understand who prepared that report?  Which third party agency prepared that?


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry.  Mr. Sperduti, we're venturing into the world of cross-examination here.  The point of this table 4 is to show that there is an overall budget for the project cost and that one of the line items of that project cost relates to lands, the cost to acquire lands.


This is not the forum for cross-examination on who has prepared the studies, what organizations, and what level of detail has been taken into account by Hydro One in developing its forecast.


I think what Mr. Thomson has indicated is that there are steps being taken now to effectively ground-truth the forecast estimate through the appraisal process that is underway.


So I am having real difficulty understanding where you are going with this line of questioning.


MR. SPERDUTI:  The difficulty, Mr. Nettleton, is that given the tight hearing schedule that the OEB has imposed at Hydro One's behest, we may not have the appraisal process that is currently underway completed before the hearing.


So what we go to the Board with may very well be just this overall market -value assessment that Mr. Thomson described.


MR. NETTLETON:  Help me understand --


MR. SPERDUTI:  I am trying to understand -- I am trying to understand the reliability of that allowance, because it affects the budgeting considerably.  If it was prepared by an accredited appraiser, for example, I have more comfort that it is accurate than if it were prepared by somebody not qualified to do the work.  


So when I ask the question, it's for that purpose.  And I think Mr. Thomson knows the answer.


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, two points.  If your question is what the overall impact of a wrong forecast on land costs may be to the overall price of electricity, that may be something that Mr. Skalski can address.


MR. SPERDUTI:  No.  My question was:  Who prepared the reports that the forecast is based on?  But if you can't tell me who, can you confirm that it was an accredited appraiser, at least, that prepared that material?


MR. THOMSON:  Yes, it was an accredited appraiser.


MR. SPERDUTI:  We will leave it for IRs, then, about getting additional information on that subject.


MR. NETTLETON:  You're not interested in understanding the impact of the price?


MR. SPERDUTI:  I don't know how Mr. Skalski could assess the impact on price, when it is impossible at this time to assess how the $125 million may change.


MR. NETTLETON:  Why don't you ask him and find out?


MR. SPERDUTI:  Okay, Mr. Skalski, since Mr. Nettleton is offering your assistance on something, far be it from me to resist.  Can you help us?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  It may provide some comfort, just in terms of trying to put a range around the potential cost impact and what that potential change in cost could have in terms of its effect on rates.


Taking the $125 million land cost, for example.  If that was out, say, by 20 percent, so $25 million, and that extra $25 million was added as a capital cost to the project, then the rate impact would be approximately 0.3 percentage points on the network rate.


Gary, if you could just pull up the slide showing the rate impact.  


As it stands now, based on the existing $635 million cost estimate, the rate impact on a network pool is between 8 percent and 9 percent.  That is shown down at the bottom of the slide that is on the screen now.


So if you added an extra $25 million in land costs to the project cost, then the rate impact would increase very slightly on the network pool rate to roughly 8.3 percent to 9.3 percent, instead of 8 to 9 percent.


So that is the range of magnitude on a network pool rate.  In terms of its impact on total bill, it would be minimal.  It wouldn't show up in the rounding.


So although we don't have a precise estimate of land costs, and that is naturally the situation that we're dealing with because the project hasn't been built yet.  We haven't acquired the lands.  So of course what we're dealing with are estimates.  


But in order to gauge what the impact is on the overall project's rate impact, here is one way to do it.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you.  You have a $218 million line item for material in your schedule 2, Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 2, page 3.  Do you see that allowance there?  I'm not sure who to ask this question of.


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, I have it.


MR. SPERDUTI:  The question is:  Have you got locked-in contracts for the supply of that material?


MR. SKALSKI:  We haven't tendered our contracts yet, so the answer is, no, we don't.


MR. SPERDUTI:  What was the basis for the $218 million forecasted cost for material?


MR. SKALSKI:  I don't have that information with me.  It would be, based on our best estimate, forecast of future commodity costs for the material involved.  

Just by way of context, our transmission business obviously has a large capital program.  We buy steel structures all the time.  We buy conductor all the time.  So this cost estimate would have been based on our usual costing approach for those items.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Are they based on current costs or historical costs?

MR. SKALSKI:  This would be an estimate of current costs.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, at lines 8 through 15 on schedule 2, page 4 of 5, there is a description of the costing process, and it might help you with the questions that you are asking about how the costs were estimated.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.  I see that, Mr. Nettleton, and I was going to ask a question or two about that, because the reason I asked about whether it was based on historical information is because I see the reference to benchmarking against similar projects.

So which similar projects would you benchmark this cost estimate against?

MR. SKALSKI:  I don't have the specifics for this project, but I can imagine that the benchmarking refers to the types of structures used, the conductor used, that kind of thing.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Is the answer on the next page in that document?  Are those the benchmark projects that you are looking at?

MR. SKALSKI:  These are past 500 kV projects that have been built; that's right.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So what fluctuating commodity price risk or escalation rate have you applied, to derive the $218 million forecast for this Bruce to Milton line?

MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, I don't have those details.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Would that have been Hydro One that prepared that?  Or was that somebody else?

MR. SKALSKI:  That would be our Hydro One cost estimate, yes.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Subject of interrogatories?

MR. NETTLETON:  The answer to your question is what it is.  If you need follow-up --

MR. SPERDUTI:  I think the answer is:  We don't know.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, that's right.  That's what Mr. Skalski said.  If that isn't a satisfactory answer, Mr. Sperduti, there is another forum called the information response and request process, and you might be able to get a better answer if you ask it in the form of an IR.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Do you have some kind of a spreadsheet, or is there a program that you use to estimate project costs?

MR. SKALSKI:  I better leave that to an interrogatory.  There is a costing process in place, which presumably uses fairly detailed assumptions as to prices of various inputs. 

MR. SPERDUTI:  These historical projects that you refer to on page 5 of 5, can you help me understand, roughly when those projects were -- I am talking about Cherrywood, Lennox, Bruce to Longwood.  The first one, I guess, Bruce to Milton SS, that's the budget for this project, right?

MR. SKALSKI:  That's correct.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So can you help me understand when the three other comparable projects were undertaken and completed?  Just so I have a time frame of reference.

MR. SKALSKI:  The in-service date is actually shown there in the second-to-last line.  So for Cherrywood, the second project in the column, in-service date was 1993.  Lennox-to-Bowmanville, next column over, had a 1994 in-service date.  And Bruce-to-Longwood had a 1990 in-service date.

MR. SPERDUTI:  The $420 million number that we see below the Bruce to Milton SS, estimated total cost, where does that number wind up?  I'm looking for a $420 million sum on table 4, the previous page, and I am looking for it in tables 2 and 3.  I'm not seeing it.  

MR. SKALSKI:  No, and it's not disclosed.  You see the $420 million total cost, there is an asterisk on it, which indicates below that that doesn't include station or property costs.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Right, and if you go over to table 4, that does include property cost, for example.  If you took the 463 estimated cost before overheads and AFUDC, and subtract the $125 million for land costs, you still don't end up at the $420 million projected in that column on table 5.

Maybe I am just reading it wrong, but is there somebody that can help me understand where that number got factored in?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, is it the case that you're seeking a reconciliation between the $420,000 that is shown on schedule 2, page 4 of 5?

MR. SPERDUTI:  420 million. 

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry.  Page 5 of 5, table 5, and the work shown, or the costs shown on tables 3 and 4?

MR. SPERDUTI:  A reconciliation would be helpful, but I wasn't all the way there yet.  I was just sort of trying to understand what happens to that $420 million.  It is double the next-most-expensive project, Bruce-to-Longwood, but I lose the trail of it after that.

What I see for material allowance on the previous page is $218 million, and then some additional matters.  But I'm not seeing where the 420 goes.

MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Sperduti, can we get back to you on that?  Perhaps if we take another break, we can have an answer for you by then, or maybe sooner.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Sure.

Is there any way for you to find out during that break, Mr. Skalski, what inflation factor you applied to material costs to derive that $420 million or $218 million, whatever the number is?

MR. SKALSKI:  I can try to ask the question, but I assume it is a variety of escalation factors for different commodities, and so on.

MR. SPERDUTI:  If you could help me, I would appreciate it.  Of course, I will ask an IR as well.

The request for this undertaking comes from OPA, and my understanding is that it is based on a preliminary IPSP.  Is that a fair representation?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Maybe we can go to the letter from the OPA to Hydro One.  I'm trying to find the reference here. Exhibit B, Tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 4.  On page 3 of that exhibit -- I will wait till you get there.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes, okay, I'm with you.  That's the March 23rd, 2007 letter?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Yes.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  In the second paragraph under the conclusion, the OPA states:
"We believe that it is crucial that implementation work on the Bruce-to-Milton transmission line project proceed as quickly as possible.  This project was included in the OPA's preliminary IPSP.  Although this project is consistent with the IPSP we do not believe that it can await the outcome of the IPSP proceeding if it is to meet the earliest possible in-service date, which Hydro One staff have indicated is December 2011."


MR. SPERDUTI:  So the answer to the question is "yes"?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  It was included in the OPA's preliminary work on their IPSP.


MR. SPERDUTI:  In terms of understanding public consultation, which is one of the topics for today, have there been any public meetings or public consultations concerning that IPSP?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I understand the OPA held some workshops and webinars in, I believe, the late fall last year regarding the IPSP.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Was the construction of this transmission facility proposed in this proceeding part of that public consultation?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  That consultation was on the IPSP in its totality, and one of the areas of interest that I understand they consulted on was power needs in the Bruce area.  That includes transmission, generation, CDM, et cetera.  In fact, the topics of discussion are set out in the transmission discussion paper that the OPA put out last November.  That is found in the filing at Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 5, Transmission Discussion Paper 

No. 5.


MR. SPERDUTI:  I got you.  There was one question that I neglected to ask Mr. Thomson about land acquisition and what was included in that $125 million that I just want to cover off very quickly.


In the past, for Ontario Hydro, there was a policy, if you will, or a mandate from the joint board dating back a number of years for buyouts of properties within a certain distance from the line.


Is a similar allowance made in the $125 million number you provided, or is that specifically for the properties required --


MR. THOMSON:  That was associated with that project and we have not estimated that in this project.  That was exclusively for that job.


MR. SPERDUTI:  You indicated that the cost of the near and interim measures is not included in the project cost on the basis of that slide that you had up.  Am I correct in that understanding?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I'm not sure if it was I who indicated it, but I can confirm that those costs aren't in the project cost as proposed in the application.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Somebody indicated that it's not included in this leave-to-construct proceeding; that the near and interim measures are not included.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe this statement was we're not seeking approval from the Board in this application for the near-term and interim measures.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Has Hydro One obtained approval for those near and interim measures otherwise than through this proceeding?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  My understanding is Ontario Energy Board approval is not required for those measures.


MR. SPERDUTI:  The legislation says that any time you are reinforcing or enhancing a transmission facility, that you have to get leave of the Board.  I guess what you're saying is that you don't interpret section 92 to require approval of the near-term and interim measures?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, you are venturing into the area of legal interpretation of legislation, and that's not a matter that these witnesses or these presenters are prepared to address.  What they have indicated to you is that this application does not include a request from the OEB for the approval of near-term and interim measures.


What this application is seeking is the approval for the facilities that are set out in the body of the application.


MR. SPERDUTI:  To understand, is there, then, I think I am also understanding from the witnesses that there is no other proceeding, either under way now or contemplated, for approval of those near and interim measures?


MR. McCORMICK:  We expect that if series compensation does go ahead, that we would need Environmental Assessment Act approval for those facilities.


MR. SPERDUTI:  What would be the time frame for obtaining environmental approval for those series compensation measures?


MR. McCORMICK:  Prior to construction, from the time that the OPA gives us some direction to proceed, we would be looking at six months to a year for the EA approval.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Because yesterday I think there were some statements about the fact that a decision hasn't been made yet about whether or not to implement the series compensation.


MR. McCORMICK:  Yes.


MR. SPERDUTI:  So then, to answer my question, at this time there is no other or contemplated Energy Board proceeding for obtaining leave for approval of any of the interim or near-term measures that we discussed yesterday?


MR. SKALSKI:  That's correct.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Have you considered the cost and benefits of incorporating narrow-base towers into this project?  I think you said earlier today that the cost projections are on the basis of standard steel towers.


MR. THOMSON:  That's correct.  Normally, Hydro's policy on narrow-base towers is on where new easements are required for a stand-alone line, not one that there is existing lines there.


The basis of that is if there are existing structures, as there are in Bruce to Milton with a standard type structure, that we would match those with what's already there.  On a stand-alone line, they have used, on soil classes 1 to 4 farm land, they have used narrow-based structures, but on existing parallel lines, they haven't.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Just in a general way, what is the cost differential between the cost of a traditional, standard-type steel structure and a narrow-based structure?


MR. THOMSON:  Well, if they were to use or install the approximately 300 narrow-based towers, it would be an additional cost of $20 million.


MR. SPERDUTI:  What would the rate impact of that be, Mr. Skalski, of an additional $20 million?  Would it be the same as like a rounding item as we discussed for land-acquisition costs?


MR. SKALSKI:  I think in the earlier example I was using a $25 million increase in costs.  So a $20 million increase in costs would be roughly the same, yes.  So minimal on the total bill, somewhat larger on the network rate in terms of rate impact.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thomson, just on this point, can you comment on whether narrow -- the use of narrow-base tolling would require a reduction in the overall land requirements?


MR. THOMSON:  Yes.  If you were to replace or install a narrow-base tower, along the whole line you would only save approximately five acres.


MR. SPERDUTI:  What about injurious affection?  Would you save any money on --


MR. THOMSON:  The actual right-of-way size has no bearing on the tower size.  The width of the right-of-way is still the same, whether it is a standard structure or a narrow-base structure.  It would have no bearing on the size of the requirement.


MR. SPERDUTI:  So my question is:  Would you be able to save money on account of injurious affection if you used narrow-base towers as opposed to standard towers?


MR. THOMSON:  As I indicated, the requirement would be exactly the same.  The tower size would be the only difference, but the tower arms and everything else would be the same.  So your size of your right-of-way, width of your right-of-way would be exactly the same.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Right.  I know you are not a qualified appraiser, so I don't mean to push you if you don't know the answer.  I just want to understand, because Mr. Nettleton asked you about what benefits would be enjoyed if you used narrow-base towers, and you said you would save only about five acres of land.

So what I am trying to ask you in this question, is:  How much money would you save by using narrow-base towers, and one way, I suggest, that you might be able to save money is because of lessened impacts on remaining lands -- 

MR. NETTLETON:  How would you --

MR. SPERDUTI:  -- and the width of the corridor isn't the determining factor of the extent of the injurious affection.  There are issues like vista.  There are other issues associated with injurious affection that don't necessarily relate to the width of the corridor.

MR. NETTLETON:  But Mr. Sperduti, what the presenters have indicated is that more towers are required with narrow-base towers.  Right?  You have the same size, in terms of height of tower, and you require the same amount of land.


So maybe you can help us understand why you would believe that there would be some significant alteration in injurious affection.


MR. SPERDUTI:  Mr. Nettleton, don't take this the wrong way, but I am not supposed to be answering the questions today.


MR. NETTLETON:  No, but this is a technical conference that we're trying to have a dialogue here, Mr. Sperduti.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am trying to understand the witness's understanding, not your understanding, of injurious affection.  Because if the witness isn't qualified to speak about injurious affection, certainly you aren't either.  So if the answer to the question is, we haven't done that assessment or we don't know, I will accept that.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Millar, maybe you could help us here.  It strikes us that we're having a difference of view of what the purpose of the technical conference is.

If the purpose is intended to provide an informal way to facilitate understanding, I think that dialogue cuts both ways.  If we're trying to understand what the basis of the misunderstanding or clarification is, surely it is a reasonable request to ask a simple question about what the basis is for the question in the first place.  That's all I am trying to elaborate here.

This isn't a witness process.  This isn't cross-examination.  These gentlemen aren't here under oath.

This is simply an opportunity for people to ask, in an informal way, what questions they may have about the application.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I think Mr. Quinn is going to give you an example.

MR. NETTLETON:  I would like Mr. Millar's input, please.

MR. ROSS:  Well, I want to have a conversation.  I was going to answer your questions.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm not asking for your answer.  I'm asking for Mr. Millar's.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I will interject now.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We can continue this off-line as well.  I think we want to get the questions to the witness panel, and that is the purpose of today.

The Board's Procedural Order is going to have to speak for itself on this.  Different people have different interpretations.  For good or for ill, a Board panel is not here to make rulings today.  I am here to ask questions on behalf of Board Staff, and to facilitate as best as I can.  But I can't make any rulings regarding what questions are within scope or without scope.  The parties will have to work it out themselves.

If there is a disagreement they can't resolve, then they will either have to move on, or they're going to have to come to the Board to seek direction, but I cannot make any rulings.  I have no powers in that regard.  So I can attempt to facilitate.

People have been discussing it amongst themselves, and we have been moving on, even if everyone is not satisfied, and we're going to have to continue with that.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I just want a straight answer from the witness.

If, in response to my questioning about the amount of additional money that would be required to implement narrow-base towers, Mr. Nettleton asked you:  How much land would you save?

You have gone as far as assessing the land savings of using narrow-base towers.  All I'm asking you is:  Have you gone as far as studying cost savings associated with potentially reduced injurious affection claims as well?


MR. THOMSON:  I think the key to my answer is the fact that what we're trying to do is demonstrate -- I mean, the purpose behind the narrow-base structure was for agricultural purposes.  By reducing the area of around the tower by using the narrow tower base, what I am trying to do is demonstrate the fact that the area is not significant over the entire line to take land out of agricultural production.  That is really the sole reason why I used, or wanted to demonstrate what the acreage was.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I will move on. 

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Thomson, I need a question of clarification.  Do narrow-base towers require the same width of right-of-way as what is being proposed here?

MR. THOMSON:  Absolutely.

MR. SPERDUTI:  On to the thorny topic of EMF issues.  I put a number of questions on this topic to Hydro One through my written interrogatories on the technical conference, so I am going to ask you to turn that document up, if you will.  That is a letter which was sent with an e-mail that actually has a date on it, I hope.  October 1st.

I want to direct you to the third page.  Whether it is the second or third page depends on what document you are looking at, but I'm looking at paragraph 14.  It says:
"What is HONI's risk-management policy concerning EMF claims?"

I want to ask the panel that question.  What is the answer?

MR. McCORMICK:  We do not have a risk-management policy specific to EMF.  We're relying on Health Canada's position.  It's a very strong one, that there is no convincing scientific evidence nor international consensus that EMF, at the levels found in Canadian homes and schools, regardless of the proximity to transmission lines, causes health problems.

MR. SPERDUTI:  The next question is: 
"Can or does HONI purchase insurance for risks associated with its projects, and what risks are insured?"


MR. McCORMICK:  We purchase general liability insurance.  It's not project-specific.

MR. SPERDUTI:  That would be the case in this project, as well?  It would not be a project-specific insurance?

MR. McCORMICK:  There is no project-specific insurance.

MR. SPERDUTI:  The next question:  
"How are EMFs factored into HONI's analysis of project risk factors?"


I am thinking more specifically in terms of land acquisition and injurious affection claims.  It has been suggested to me, anyway, that regardless of whether there is a demonstrated link between EMFs and health-related problems, there certainly is a link between property value and EMFs, or stigma associated with EMFs.  So maybe this is a question for Mr. Thomson.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, it's not a question for 
Mr. Thomson, Mr. Sperduti.

Your association of EMF to market value of lands is a matter dealing far and wide outside of this Board's jurisdiction.  It has been clear that land-compensation issues are not within the purview of this Board.

If you want to make the arguments and articulate the assertions that you have made in the past, go ahead, but do it in the right forum.  This is certainly not the right forum, a technical conference.  The OEB has indicated as much, through the Issues Day determination.

Let's move on to areas that we can talk about.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Thank you for that, Mr. Nettleton.

So again, Mr. Thomson, can you answer the question?

MR. NETTLETON:  No.  He can't answer the question. 

MR. SPERDUTI:  Is land-acquisition cost not a project risk factor that affects the overall project cost?

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, it is.

MR. SPERDUTI:  To the extent that there is a stigma or reduction in property value associated with perceived health impacts, perceived impact of EMFs, is that not a factor that HONI budgets for in its analysis?

MR. McCORMICK:  No.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So in your instructions to the appraiser, who prepared the $125-million estimate, did you specifically ask the appraiser not to consider the impacts of stigma?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Sperduti, let's move on to areas that relate to the prefiled application.

If you want to cross-examine on matters related to how and the process that Hydro One has gone through for purposes related to the appraisal reports and information that has been gathered in relation to the expropriation process, let's do that in the right forum.  But this is not the right forum, sir.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Well, Mr. Nettleton, I am trying to understand the reliability of those cost estimates.

MR. NETTLETON:  And, Mr. Sperduti --

MR. SPERDUTI:  If the fact is that the appraiser was instructed not to, or if it is that the appraiser wasn't told anything about it, then that helps me understand the project risk.

MR. NETTLETON:  You know what?  Save it for the hearing.  Let's have a forum in which these types of questions can be adjudicated.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So you're instructing your witnesses not to answer these questions?

MR. NETTLETON:  I am.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Have you studied the extent of the current existing electromagnetic field around the existing transmission lines?  Do you know the extent of it?

MR. McCORMICK:  Modelling has been done that will be available during the EA process.  If you wish, it will be supplied in response to your interrogatories.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Have you got an assessment or has some study been done about how that field will change if this new line is constructed?

MR. McCORMICK:  That modelling considered both existing and future.

MR. SPERDUTI:  What was the result?  If the line gets built, does the field expand or contract, remain the same?

MR. McCORMICK:  To generalize, because the modelling was applied at several cross-sections, but, in general terms, the side of the right-of-way away from the widening will be approximately the same, possibly less, simply because the loading on the lines adjacent would be less.

The fields on the widened side of the right-of-way at the edge of the right-of-way will be approximately the same as the edge of the existing, but, as you can appreciate, because there are facilities, the levels would be higher at that new edge relative to what they are today.

MR. SPERDUTI:  So the levels will be higher at the new edge, but the overall extent of the field, you're saying, according to your modelling, is going to remain about the same?

MR. McCORMICK:  I think you should have a look at the data, but, yes.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I would love to look at the data.  Can you provide it to me or is that an interrogatory matter?

MR. NETTLETON:  No.  That is what Mr. McCormick indicated, that is a matter that is outside of the purview of this Board's proceeding.  It is a matter that will be considered in the environmental-assessment process.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I don't think he said that, Mr. Nettleton.  I think you're saying that.

MR. McCORMICK:  No, that's what I said.  I said it's available to you through the EA process and in response to interrogatories.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Which doesn't make it exclusive to this process.

MR. NETTLETON:  I'm telling you, sir, that it does.

MR. SPERDUTI:  How do you measure what device or how do you measure the extent of the field?  Is it all a computer model, or is there anything that you do out in the field?

MR. NETTLETON:  How is this question relevant to the prefiled evidence that's been filed in this application, Mr. Sperduti?

MR. SPERDUTI:  It's as relevant as the answers to the last five questions that your witness provided.

MR. NETTLETON:  You know what?  We have been trying to accommodate you on matters that are clearly beyond the purview of this application.  Let's get back and on track to the application that is before this Board, please.

MR. SPERDUTI:  I am getting the sense, Mr. Nettleton, that it's okay for the witness to answer the question if you know the answer, but you don't know the answer to this question, so I want to ask it for the record.  If you are going to instruct your --

MR. NETTLETON:  I am instructing the presenters to consider not answering the question, as this is a matter beyond the purview of this Board and the application that is before this Board.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Insofar as these EMFs affect costs, and on a macro level, has Hydro One been required to expend money to satisfy claims for damages associated with EMFs?

MR. NETTLETON:  What costs are you speaking of, Mr. Sperduti?

MR. SPERDUTI:  The overall project costs and contingency allowances.

MR. NETTLETON:  So you are asking whether or not there are funds in the project cost estimate relating to the provision of future litigation relating to EMF claims?

MR. SPERDUTI:  That's another way of putting it, but, sure.  Does part of that contingency allowance include satisfying EMF-related claims?

MR. McCORMICK:  We haven't received any claims.

MR. SPERDUTI:  Not for this line.

MR. McCORMICK:  For any line.  So why would we do it on this line?

MR. SPERDUTI:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Sperduti.  Who would like to go next?  Any volunteers?

MR. ROSS:  I could go next.  I will be very brief.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Ross.  Yes, go ahead.  
Questions by Mr. Ross


MR. ROSS:  I just am looking for some basic clarification.  There was some discussion about the appraisal process and how it was conducted.  I am actually interested in what it is, what the appraisal is, what it's designed to do and, practically, how it is carried out.

MR. THOMSON:  You're referring to the individual appraisals that are being done along the right-of-way now?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.  Thanks.

MR. THOMSON:  They are there to provide their appraisal of the right-of-way area.  They are out talking to the property owners to get whatever information the property owners wish to share with them, and then they do their analysis based on comparable sales analysis within the area.  That's a quick summary of it.


MR. ROSS:  So if, for example, the right-of-way is running on the back edge of a property and the house is nowhere close to the right-of-way, the house isn't taken into consideration for the purpose of the appraisal?

MR. THOMSON:  In this forum, Mr. Ross, I don't want to get into a whole appraisal process.  The appraiser is out there looking at each individual property and valuing where the right-of-way location is, where the improvements are, et cetera, and then looking for comparable sales that are comparable to the subject properties.

MR. ROSS:  Are they taking into consideration all of these four factors listed in box 5 above you or behind you, in front of you? 


MR. THOMSON:  In regards to the entitlements under the Expropriation Act, those are entitlements that are stated in the Act as to what we will pay.

Then if there are additional items that they wish to identify, then they would note that.

MR. ROSS:  Now, maybe I'm dancing around in the questions that I am asking.  If I am, I apologize.  Is this a holistic view of the property, or are they ascertaining in a vacuum the value of the right-of-way?

MR. THOMSON:  In the case of a farm, like, if we're looking at where buildings are impacted, obviously you are looking at the total property, correct.

If you are looking at the basis of a right-of-way or a partial acquisition, you are looking at the right-of-way area and the location of it on the subject property in relationship to improvements or otherwise.

MR. ROSS:  So would the value of a building on that property be of any importance in the appraisal process?

MR. THOMSON:  Are we referring to farm buildings?

MR. ROSS:  A house, let's say, 600 metres away from the right-of-way.

MR. THOMSON:  I don't want to start getting into specifics without knowing where it is and all of this kind of thing, but I think like with a farm property, we are valuing based on an improved land rate, for instance, what the improvement, the barn, the -- If it's a 100-acre farm, does the barn support 100 acres, and that kind of thing.


It's a very complex process.  It's not that easy to explain.

MR. ROSS:  Fair enough.  I appreciate that.  I will simplify it one step further.

Can the appraisals that you require to complete this process be done from the proposed widened corridor?

MR. THOMSON:  Yes.

MR. ROSS:  Completely?

MR. THOMSON:  Again, it gets back to are we talking --
MR. ROSS:  So in some instances yes, and in some instances no, I think is the answer.

MR. THOMSON:  Yes.  Without knowing the specific one, I would not want to generalize.

MR. ROSS:  This may go to institutional structuring of Hydro One as opposed to old Ontario Hydro, but I have heard that the lands that have been acquired by what was then Ontario Hydro are now publicly held lands.

Am I to understand, then, that HONI does not hold title to those lands, that they have been disgorged to the government?

MR. THOMSON:  That's correct.  Those were transferred under a transfer over to the government.  It's the Ministry of Infrastructure and Renewal -- I never get it, whether it is Infrastructure and Renewal or Renewal and Infrastructure -- for transmission lines.  That is for transmission lines only?

MR. ROSS:  Again -- I am jumping around -- just going to the concept of route refinements.

MR. THOMSON:  Can I just clarify one thing, though?  We are listed as the prime user of those lands, even though they are publicly owned.  So we continue to be almost an easement holder on that property.

MR. ROSS:  Not a title holder, but you have beneficial interest in the lands?

MR. THOMSON:  We have our easement interest on the property, yes, as the primary user, yes.  

MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  Now, it took me some time, but with Mr. Nettleton's assistance at the interim access hearing and the subsequent outings together, he has explained to me the difference between route and corridor.

I thought I understood it, until today when "route" seems to be everything we're talking about and "corridor" has disappeared. 

What I mean is, when we were talking about routes and sub-routes, I didn't know then whether we were talking about routes within the proposed corridor or whether the sub-routes were now referring to a potential new corridor.

Could I have some clarification on that?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Examples of corridors are Bruce to Milton, Bruce to Essa, Bruce to Longwood.

MR. ROSS:  Right.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Route examples are east or west side of the Bruce-to-Milton route.  The Hanover situation we would characterize as a route refinement because of the relative size of it, relative to the entire route.  It is not east or west, but it is just a small deviation off of the Bruce-to-Milton corridor.

MR. ROSS:  So that is exactly what I am talking about.  That would require a tiny section of new corridor?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  If what you're suggesting is the refinement is off of the existing corridor, you're correct.  It very well could be flipping to the west side of that dip.  And in that case, it wouldn't require new corridor.  It would be expanding the existing corridor on the south side, rather than the north side.

MR. ROSS:  Is there any anticipation in the EA process that the results will cause a deviation in the route that will bring it out of the proposed corridor?  It's not going to help you.

MR. McCORMICK:  We have defined the corridor, I guess, as the existing corridor plus the widened area, and it could go somewhat outside of that, yes.  That's a possibility.  It could put it on the opposite side of the existing corridor.

MR. ROSS:  Mr. Nettleton, perhaps you can help me with this.  If an alternative corridor to the one proposed in the application were necessitated by the results of the EA process, would that require an amendment to the application?

MR. NETTLETON:  Which application are we speaking of?

MR. ROSS:  The leave to construct.


MR. NETTLETON:  So let me understand.  If the output of the EA process was that a route different from what has been applied for before the OEB has been approved by the EA process, would that necessitate an amendment to the OEB approval?

MR. ROSS:  A corridor different than the one --

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.  I think where we're getting hamstrung here is what has been applied for before the OEB.  


What has been applied for before the OEB is a reference route, so, if there is a deviation from the reference route that is coming out of the EA process, there is going to be a requirement for us to go back to the OEB and say:  Pretty please, bless this amendment.

MR. ROSS:  So they may require an amendment to the application?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, yes.

MR. ROSS:  Camp Creek.  As far as I understand, there was a ministerial decision regarding Camp Creek back in the day when another line ran through that area and the Ministerial directive said:  This area is sacrosanct, this area is not to be touched, we are going around this area.  Yet from what I understand the current proposed routing goes straight through Camp Creek again.

MR. McCORMICK:  There was a ministerial decision made under the Expropriation Act.  The words were in there, justifying a decision that enabled the expropriation process to go ahead for the route at that time.

Our view is that that is a consideration, but it's not binding on us.  It is a matter that we will consider as part of our EA process, but it is not a constraint to start the process.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. McCormick, do you have any knowledge as to what date that decision was, the year that that decision took place?

MR. McCORMICK:  I recall it is 1977.  Dennis Timbrell, Minister of Energy at the time.

MR. ROSS:  That's correct.

Again, this is anecdotal, and I guess it goes to everyone's understanding of what "informal" means.  Do projects normally come in under the estimates, projects of this size?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I personally can't recall a transmission-line project of this size.  So I wouldn't be able to make that --

MR. ROSS:  How about generally?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Generally, do projects come in?

MR. ROSS:  Under estimates.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Under estimate?  I don't have that information, to be able to provide you an answer.

MR. ROSS:  You have been involved in no other projects from the estimate process through to the completion process?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I am typically involved in the planning of the projects.  Once they are approved and awarded, I am no longer involved in the project.

MR. ROSS:  Mr. Skalski?

MR. SKALSKI:  I can give you a general response, which is that some projects come in lower and some projects come in higher.  That is the nature of the estimating process that you try to make your estimates so that things work out that way, so that you have a 50 percent probability of either being higher or lower.

MR. ROSS:  Anecdotally again, I'm not trying to pin you down to it.  That has generally been your experience, it's about 50 percent each way? It is not heavier in one direction or the other?

MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, that I can't speak to.

MR. ROSS:  When adding series capacitors to an existing line, what would a work like that be called?  How would you define that?  

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I'm not sure what you're getting at.  What it would be called?  It would be called a transmission project, if that's what you mean.

MR. ROSS:  What kind of transmission?  Would it be maintenance?

MR. McCORMICK:  We would treat it as a capital project.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. ROSS:  But what category of capital expenditure would it be?  Would it be capital expenditure done by way of maintenance?  Amelioration?  Those kinds of things.

MR. McCORMICK:  It's a development project.  It's not maintenance per se.  It is treated as the same way if we built a new transformer station somewhere, upgraded a transmission line.

MR. ROSS:  Does it make the system better than it was before you started with it? 

MR. SCHNEIDER:  It would be an attempt to modify the system to meet the need that has been defined.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is a capacitor a transmission line?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No.  It is a station.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  And in the same way that a line would provide additional capacity or capability, as Bob Chow from OPA described yesterday, it would provide a degree of additional capability for the transmission system.  That is why it is classified as a transmission development project.

MR. ROSS:  I got you.  How about tautening an existing power line?  Is that transmission?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Is that a transmission project?

MR. ROSS:  Yes.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  It is transmission work.  I'm not so sure it is a project.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Schneider, do you have before you section 92 of the OEB Act?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, I don't.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think it would be helpful, because the questions that we're having here relate to whether or not a leave to construct is required.  I will pass you my computer.  It has it.  I am assuming that is where you're going, Mr. Ross.

MR. ROSS:  I am.  I am just trying to get answers.  Whether or not that is in fact required is, as you said, a question of legal interpretation.

I am just trying to understand what the experts would call a project of that nature.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the language of section 92 is specific to transmission line or distribution line.

MR. ROSS:  Correct.

MR. ROSS:  I am now talking about tautening of the 230 line which proposed as an interim measure.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Can you repeat the question?

MR. ROSS:  But now they're wise to my scheme, so I probably won't...

[Laughter]


MR. ROSS:  The question simply is this, and now I don't have to dance around with the words.  When you are pulling that line tight, would that be a reinforcement of a transmission line or an enhancement?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  The way I understand the 
legislation --

MR. ROSS:  That is not what I'm asking.  It is not fair to you to ask.  That is only why I'm interrupting, because that is not your job, is to interpret the legal definition.

MR. NETTLETON:  This is a technical conference, Mr. Ross.  It is intended to promote an informal dialogue.  It is not cross-examination.  Even if it were cross-examination, you know, the questions about legal interpretation, as I indicated to Mr. Sperduti, are inappropriate.

If you're just simply asking a question of, Does Hydro One go out and get approvals under section 92 from the OEB for up-ratings, why don't you ask that question?  That may be an easy question for them to answer.

MR. ROSS:  What he said.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, we don't.

MR. ROSS:  You took all of the fun out of it, Gord.

MR. NETTLETON:  I apologize.

[Laughter]


MR. NETTLETON:  The smoking guns are in my pocket.

[Laughter]


MR. ROSS:  I think that is it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  I would like to go to about 3:15 or so before we take a break.  Any volunteers to -- Mr. McLellan [sic].

MR. McLENNAN:  McLennan.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  I got that wrong yesterday, too.  My apologies.
Questions by Mr. McLennan


MR. McLENNAN:  That's all right.  Kasa-Vubu thought Diefenbaker was an odd name.  So if that's the worst they get, I'll be all right.

MR. SPERDUTI:  My name gets butchered every day.

MR. McLENNAN:  In the construction of the line, however you describe it, is there any possibility a 500 line will go across a 500 line?  You don't plan for it.  That's my understanding.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Can you repeat the question?

MR. McLENNAN:  Is it possible that the new 500 line would cross over another 500 line?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  You mean once we finish the EA --

MR. McLENNAN:  Everything.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  -- could there any refinement that could result in that?

MR. McLENNAN:  Yes, yes.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I suppose that could be something that would be in a local refinement, but nothing has been raised to me that would suggest that.

MR. McLENNAN:  If that happens --

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Just a moment, please.  

[Panel confers]


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Andrew has reminded me that when I showed the overhead photo in the Milton area that showed what I call the Milton jog to avoid the development areas in Halton Hills, while we don't want to or wish to cross 500 kV lines, in fact, in that area the new line would be crossing the lines coming from Middleport transformer station just outside the Milton switching station.

MR. McLENNAN:  If that happens, is there a different tower you need, or can you use the ones you have talked about?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I can do my best as a non-engineer to describe what it is.  I'm understanding what you are getting built there is a bus-type structure that are lower structures that bring the line down, and underneath, for example, the existing line.

You try to do that at a location where the existing line is at its highest so it is adjacent to an existing tower.

MR. McLENNAN:  Are there height restrictions required in that event?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  There are clearance requirements both ways that have to be respected.  I believe the area of the crossover or -under would be fenced in a separate areas, so it would be fenced and secured.  

MR. McLENNAN:  Is there any specific distance that you know of?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that information.

MR. McLENNAN:  Is there any difference in costs of construction for that kind of situation?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I can imagine that the costs would be different than just parallelling the existing line and not having to do that.

MR. McLENNAN:  Do you have any numbers for that area?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't have that with me.

MR. McLENNAN:  When you do come to construct that, what happens to the usage of the existing line?  Do you have to interrupt it?  You're going under the existing line.  What happens?  Is there any stoppage in usage to allow for the construction?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  I believe that outages would be required to do that jog.

MR. McLENNAN:  Is that a big event or can you handle it?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  It depends on the time of year you're requesting it, and it depends on which generation is on-line at, say, the Bruce nuclear facility and elsewhere.  You would have to request an outage through the Independent Electricity System Operator.

MR. McLENNAN:  Are you saying that is something that is in your usual technical competence and can be handled?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  It's something that we considered in the project, and, in fact, in the project cost estimates it is one of the contingency items, planning for outages.

MR. McLENNAN:  It's in there, is it?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. McLENNAN:  Coming back to the Hanover dip, you talked about the lines are there now.  You talked about the policy of going along the existing line.  Is there any technical reason to go along the existing line?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  From an electrical perspective, I am not aware of a reason.

MR. McLENNAN:  Are you aware of any reason why it was done the first time?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, I am not aware of the reason.

MR. McLENNAN:  In the material filed today, it was indicated that you had public information meetings and that you also had meetings with the federal and provincial agencies.

What meetings did you have with federal agencies?

MR. McCORMICK:  We met with the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency.  We are concerned about potential triggers for the federal EA Act, so we're keeping them informed.  That was largely the purpose of that.  We normally brief them regularly on all of our projects.

As I recall, we held a meeting for government reviewers, and I recall that there were representatives of the federal government there.  Environment Canada and Fisheries and Oceans tend to have an interest in our projects.

MR. McLENNAN:  It would be tough to see how Fisheries and Oceans would get into this one, but I suppose --

MR. McCORMICK:  Sorry, say that again?


MR. McLENNAN:  It would be tough to see how Fisheries and Oceans would get into this one.

MR. McCORMICK:  But they're always concerned if stream or river crossings are necessary.  We try to avoid them, but they are always concerned about the potential for fish-habitat effects.

MR. McLENNAN:  How does that work?  You just inform them, or do they raise questions, or how does it work?

MR. McCORMICK:  We inform.  They ask questions.  It's a similar session to this, although very informal.

MR. McLENNAN:  Do you provide them with the information they ask?

MR. McCORMICK:  Yes.

MR. McLENNAN:  Is there any restriction on the provision of that information?

MR. McCORMICK:  I'm not sure what you mean.

MR. McLENNAN:  Do you say you can have that, or do you say you can't have it?

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. McLennan, just to be clear, under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act there are approvals that trigger the federal environmental-assessment process.  One of those triggers is under the Fisheries Act, section 35, dealing with the destruction of fish habitat.  The way that provision operates is that it is incumbent upon ongoing discussion and consultation between proponents and the federal agencies to ascertain whether or not the trigger has been affected or not.  

That is the background to why there would be consultation between -- as is in the case of all projects of any significance -- that there would be ongoing dialogue between federal agencies and the proponent. 

MR. McLENNAN:  Did you give them any information different than you've made available to members of the public, or in this application?

MR. McCORMICK:  At this point in the process, because we haven't been out in the field until very recently to collect data, it has been more of an exchange, a discussion on what the scope of the project could be, what the issues are, defining where federal interests would possibly fall.

MR. McLENNAN:  Did you have any exchange of correspondence about this discussion?

MR. McCORMICK:  Letters of notification.  Nothing that gets into issues, if that's what you're asking.

MR. McLENNAN:  I just wondered.  Did they write you any letters asking you for anything?

MR. McCORMICK:  I'm trying to recall whether they wrote us comments on the terms of reference.  I don't recall that.

MR. McLENNAN:  Now, you did say, Mr. McCormick, earlier, I think it was in connection with the Hanover dip discussion, that concerns had been expressed by affected individuals, members of the public, and that you were going to listen to those, and you did not rule out possible revisions to this application based on that.

MR. McCORMICK:  Yes.

MR. McLENNAN:  Now, I want to be clear, because Mr. Nettleton has restricted any revisions to as required by Ontario environmental review process.  Do you see it differently?

MR. McCORMICK:  No.  I agree completely with what he said. 

MR. McLENNAN:  Sorry, I can't hear you.

MR. McCORMICK:  I agree completely.

MR. McLENNAN:  You seem to be saying something more expansive than that, that it wouldn't have to just be required by the environmental process.  You could negotiate with somebody and agree to do something else.  Am I wrong in that?  Certainly you have got to do what you are required to do.

MR. McCORMICK:  Whatever the subject, if there's an individual, a group of people or a regulatory agency who have an issue and it is raised during the environmental assessment process, we do our best to try to address that.  It may get into a review of alternatives, or discussion of potential effects and mitigation.  There is quite a range of things that we could do.  But we're always receptive to concerns, and we do our best to try to address those concerns.

MR. McLENNAN:  Thank you.  Now, in the slide this morning on economics and rate impact and key assumptions about the load, in the first bullet, the last point is that:
"While the line will carry significant load, it is replacement for load currently obtained from other generating sources."

Do you have details of that?

MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Chow covered it in essence yesterday when there was discussion about the new load from Bruce generation replacing the existing coal load.

MR. McLENNAN:  All he said was that was to replace coal and coal generation, but nothing else.  Today you say "replacement for load currently obtained from other generation sources".  I am wondering what the detail for that statement is.  If you have it.

MR. SKALSKI:  Well, no, I don't have it.  I'm just trying to say that I think Mr. Chow addressed it yesterday, and overall what we're dealing with is a change in the generation mix in Ontario.

MR. McLENNAN:  But without any supporting detail?

MR. SKALSKI:  It's in the discussion papers that have been filed with the application, the OPA's discussion papers.

MR. McLENNAN:  That's really -- all right, okay.

I'm not sure to whom I am to address this -- you have a number based on 2007 cost dollars; is that correct?  635 million.  That's 2007?

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  But I think there is probably some escalation, as well, in there.  So these would be, in a sense, costs today, but escalated out to the year of construction.

MR. McLENNAN:  That goes to your earlier answer that there is some factor in there, but you didn't have exactly what it was, the detail?


MR. SKALSKI:  That's correct, yes.

MR. McLENNAN:  In that table 5 in Exhibit B, Tab 4, schedule 2, Page 5 of 5, you have the comparison with the Cherrywood, Lennox and the other Longwood numbers.  There is some significant passage of years.  You have the Bruce number; this one is total cost of 420 million, compared to 81.4, which in 2009 will be 16 years of age.  Then 2002 for Lennox, which will be 15 years old, and 218 for Longwood, which would be 19 years of age, then.


Did you adjust those figures to account for the difference in years?

MR. SKALSKI:  No, they haven't been adjusted.  

MR. McLENNAN:  Just straight cash costs?  All right.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think, Mr. McLennan it might be helpful just to look at the page before that table, page 4.  It indicates the reason why there was a filing of any cost comparables.  It says "per OEB EB-2006-0170 filing requirements".  The costs of comparable projects are shown.  That's why they were shown.

MR. McLENNAN:  I'm just trying to understand how it was done.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MR. McLENNAN:  I have no further questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. McLennan.  Maybe we will take our break right now, and Mr. Adams and I are the only two people left with questions.  So why don't we come back in about 15 minutes?

--- Recess taken at 3:10 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:31 p.m.

Procedural matters


MR. MILLAR:  I think we will start up again, if everybody is ready.


There is a preliminary matter I wanted to deal with, which I had forgotten about before.  Hydro One has made the two presentations, the PowerPoint presentations.  Mr. Nettleton, I don't imagine there is any objection to this, but I will just run it by you.  I am planning to label these as exhibits so they have some sort of standing on the record.  


Is there any objection to that?


MR. NETTLETON:  Absolutely not.


MR. MILLAR:  We will call yesterday's presentation Exhibit KT.1 and today's presentation KT.2.  

EXHIBIT NO. KT.1:  PRESENTATION OF OCTOBER 15, 2007.

EXHIBIT NO. KT.2:  PRESENTATION OF OCTOBER 16, 2007.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Millar, there are a few preliminary matters that the panel would also like to deal with -- 


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.


MR. NETTLETON:  -- relating to outstanding questions that they have now had the opportunity to consider at the break.


MR. MILLAR:  Please go ahead.


MR. McLENNAN:  I will pass it over to Mr. Schneider.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  I recall a question from Mr. Pappas regarding the width of the Bruce-to-Longwood transmission corridor, and whether or not there was room on that corridor for a new transmission line.


The answer is the existing Bruce-to-Longwood transmission corridor is generally about 250 feet wide, which is the typical width for a 500 kV double-circuit line.  There is no additional room on that right-of-way for a new 500 kV line.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Skalski, did you have some other answers to questions?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, I do.  Mr. Sperduti was asking about a couple of things.  One was the cost escalation rates that are included in the project cost estimates.


I don't have numbers for you, Mr. Sperduti, but apparently what we did in coming up with the cost estimates was to talk with the main suppliers directly and factor in their estimate of what the future costs would be for the key commodity items, like steel, copper, aluminum and so on.  So it is the suppliers' best estimates of what the future costs would be that are embedded in our cost estimate.


That's the first item.  


The second item has to do with a reconciliation of the costs in Exhibit B.4.2.  I will just turn that up.  Mr. Sperduti was asking about the $420 million total cost, which, according to the asterisk in table 5, does not include station or property costs.  The question generally was:  How does that cost compare to the costs included in the other parts of the exhibit?  


I can get you close in terms of reconciliation, Mr. Sperduti, and you can do it by taking the $635 million total cost that is included in table 1 and is also shown on our presentation.  


If you deduct from that $15 million for preliminary engineering, $65 million for stations and $125 million for land, then you get to $430 million.  So we are close to the $420 million that is shown in table 5.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Skalski.  With that, Mr. Millar, I think we are ready to move on.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  I think it is just myself and Mr. Adams left.  Tom, did you want to go first?

Questions by Mr. Adams


MR. ADAMS:  Sure.  Thank you, panel.  I just have a few questions.  Hopefully it won't take you too much time to work through this.  I wonder if I could turn you to your Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, figure 1, the coloured blocks.


I apologize, I've missed some of the proceedings here, so some of my questions may have been answered.  If I trip into areas that you have already dealt with, please just bump me off.


I am just trying to understand some of the background here with regard to this table.  The first thing that jumps out at me, just on its face, it appears that there is bottle generation already existing in the Bruce area.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I'm sorry, Tom, you are in B.3.1?


MR. ADAMS:  B, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Page 2?  So the figure 1 on that page?


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Tom, what I have put on the screen is what was presented yesterday by Bob Chow at the technical conference comparing -- the dotted line is what's appearing in figure 1 in Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, and -- oh, I'm sorry, I have to find that one.  Just bear with me for a second.


Sorry, about that.  This is what the revised figure would look like.


MR. ADAMS:  In the early going here of the graph, certainly by the time that we are at now, this is showing some bottle generation, right, out until early 2009 potentially arising?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, that is what it shows.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, do I understand correctly that this is all based on nameplate capacity of the generation in the relevant area here?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, that's how Bob responded yesterday.


MR. ADAMS:  Is the Bruce SPS still in service, the special protection system, that previously existed?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, the existing special protection service.  However, it is being modified, based on advice from the OPA, to act as an interim measure for the situation in the Bruce area.


MR. ADAMS:  Is that reflected in the graph that we're looking at here?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe so.  The interim measures on this graph include the generation rejection, but not the series compensation, as you see in the star below the legend.


MR. ADAMS:  So that existing capability line, that black line, that is reflective of the capability of the system with SPS?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Maybe Andrew can correct me if I'm wrong, but the near-term measures in there include the Hanover to Orangeville operating the shunt capacitors in the area, and I believe it is the BSPS, as well.


MR. SKALSKI:  Right.  But, Tom, you're talking about the time period before January 2009, presumably, on the chart.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I'm sorry, I am speaking to the green line.


MR. ADAMS:  I'm talking about the black line there, existing capability.  When we're looking at -- existing capability that is reflective of SPS, is my question.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe in the presentation yesterday, the capability of the transmission system was described as a range between 4500 megawatts and 5400 megawatts.  This line is meant to represent the typical capability out of the system.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I appreciate that load flows affect the actual -- this is actually a dynamic situation.  It's not a static.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, do we have anywhere in evidence or are you going to produce estimates of the actual extent of bottle generation, quantification of the quantum?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I am trying to recall the discussion yesterday, and I believe the OPA did not have the information as of yesterday.  However, I seem to recall that if an interrogatory came in, they would look at that interrogatory and deal with it at that time.

MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Perfect.  That's helpful.  

Now, one thing I find troubling about this.  You are in a position of having insufficient capability today to carry the installed capacity, based on these various things that we've been looking at.  I want to get a sense for how we got into this situation.

The Bruce refurbishment agreement was 2005.  The RFPs that gave rise to some of the wind capacity that is being installed in this area, that started in 2004, and then in 2005.  So it should have been evident several years ago that you were going to get into this transmission problem.  

I want to understand when Hydro One knew that you were going to have bottle generation in the Bruce area.  How do we reconstruct the story of the applicant uncovering this knowledge?

[Panel confers] 

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe yesterday it was stated that Hydro One wasn't involved in any of those contract negotiations.  And without OPA here, I am not sure I can offer you much more.

MR. ADAMS:  Actually that's helpful in and of itself.  When we were looking at the filings here, one of the things I observed is that there is no chapter in your prefiled evidence on the approach that you took and the considerations that went into the design of the near-term and interim measures.

I am trying to get a grasp of the background behind your proposals that are embedded here, appreciating that they're not a specific part of your application, but they're part of the context of your application.

So let me try a few questions in this area.  What were the evaluation criteria that you applied for the consideration of alternative, near-term or interim measures?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Again, I think that would be a better question to the OPA and/or the IESO.  I can say that in the development of the measures, we would have provided input to those organizations and they would have been developed, but I can't answer that question.

MR. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. SKALSKI:  Tom, sorry, just to elaborate.  One of the interim measures that is under consideration, series compensation, was included in the option screening exercise that was covered in yesterday's presentation -- sorry, as a long-term measure.  And it was screened out as a long-term alternative.

MR. ADAMS:  I understand.  Let me try approvals.  You're going to have to get approvals from NERC and NPCC for some of this?  Do I understand that correctly?  Is that a Hydro One responsibility or is that somebody else?

MR. SKALSKI:  When you say "for some of this", again, you're talking about the near-term and interim measures?

MR. ADAMS:  Near-term and interim.  Why don't we ask it in two parts?  You're going to have to get approval with regard to near-term and interim measures, from NPCC and/or NERC.  My question is:  Is that a Hydro One responsibility or is that some other agency?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  It would really be a question better suited to OPA and IESO.  I believe it is the IESO who has to make sure that the system respects the NERC and NPCC requirements.  I can offer you that.

MR. ADAMS:  That would apply as well for the new build?  For the --

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Actually, I was speaking probably more specifically for the new build, but it probably covers the whole thing.

MR. ADAMS:  I will have to go and ask them.

Let me just ask some questions in the area of cost --


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Tom, just before you go on, maybe I could be a little more helpful.  The IESO would have conducted a system-impact assessment of the project, the Bruce-to-Milton line, and in that assessment would have looked at impacts of the system relative to NERC and NPCC requirements.

MR. ADAMS:  They would have considered those requirements.  But isn't there some level of approval that they're required to get?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  I guess I can't answer that.  I think that is a question better suited for them.

MR. ADAMS:  I have a couple of questions with regard to cost analysis.  First of all, do you have a breakout for your contingency items?  On your slide 6 from today's presentation, that one, you previously indicated that there was a $30-million contingency associated with the project.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. ADAMS:  Do you have a breakout of how these constituent components of the contingency add up, what their values are?

MR. SKALSKI:  We don't have that with us.  You will have to ask an IR, Tom.

MR. ADAMS:  IR?  Sure.  No problem.  And the contingency is on top of the 635?

MR. SKALSKI:  No, it is included in there.

MR. ADAMS:  Included in the 635.  When you were looking at this question of going north or south of the existing, I heard your presentation on this issue of the value of the Kincardine component, public land that was one of your considerations.

You also introduced this possibility of switching sides, where you use the existing line.  You connect the new line to an existing line, and then your existing line to new line on the other side, to be able to switch from north-side build to a south-side build.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  I think specifically I was talking about down in the Milton area, just outside the Milton switching station.

MR. ADAMS:  Yes, right.  But if I understood your testimony this morning correctly, the location of that north-side-to-south-side swap was something you had control over, and were considering alternative locations to place that swap.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Maybe I can put it up on the screen and try to be helpful.

MR. ADAMS:  Sure, please.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  What I spoke to this morning was what we call a jog.  I guess is the terminology I'm using.

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  

MR. SCHNEIDER:  The dotted line to the left of the screen is the new line along the east side of the corridor as it approaches the Milton switching station.

You see it veer into the existing line, just in from the left side of the screen, and effectively you take the existing line and string it along a new set of towers to the west.  Do you see that?

MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  The advantage I mentioned this morning of doing it in this location was that the purple area is publicly held land, so that in doing it in this location, there would be no need for additional land rights from private landowners.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I understand.


Now, this method you have for grafting a new build onto an old build provides an opportunity.  It could be used at potentially other locations along the new build to take advantage of more favourable land conditions from one side to other?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  There are a couple of issues associated with that.  From the perspective of areas on the west or south side, depending where you are --


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  -- I don't believe there are many other locations such like this where there is publicly held land in sufficient quantity to do something like this.  


Secondly, and probably as important or more important, you need outages to do these kinds of things, and there are very limited outage windows available for when the project is being constructed.  So there is only so many times you can do a jog.  There are some constraints around that.


MR. ADAMS:  On the other hand, if you are doing a single jog, you could do multiple jogs at the same time and synchronize the tie-ins, couldn't you?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I think now we're getting into the design and construction area, and it might be a little out of my league.  But I am understanding that it is a little more complicated than that.


MR. ADAMS:  There are limitations on construction forces, I can appreciate, and whatnot.  Let me see if I can close off this line of questioning by asking, at a high level, if this methodology for switching construction from the north side to the south side could be used in other locations rather than simply at the Milton route-refinement jog.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I suppose it could, but the thing that you have to consider is the fact that we don't have sufficient quantities of public lands in those areas or in other areas as we do here.  The other thing to keep in mind is that the cost of one of these jogs is upwards of $5 million per jog.


MR. ADAMS:  Right.  That cost is driven by corner towers, is that --


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Angle towers, other equipment, the actual construction of it.


MR. ADAMS:  When you were designing this route, you would definitely have taken into consideration various alternatives.


Relative to the north-side proposal that you put forward, do we have comparable information, at least at a high level, that describes the land cost that would have been associated had the south side been chosen?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't believe we have cost estimates on the west and the south side.  Once we selected the reference route, we didn't pursue that.


MR. ADAMS:  If you had used the south-side route, would it have avoided the Hanover local refinement or contributed to it?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I don't believe it would have avoided it.  What we have heard from affected landowners and stakeholders is that they're looking for an option that somehow avoids the dip entirely and finds a way to get from one side of the dip to the other.


MR. ADAMS:  Right, right.  Straight --


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Whether it is straight or some other path, I am not sure at this point.


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

Questions by Mr. Millar 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Unless there is anyone else who wants to go, I will go now.  Maybe we can keep this slide on the monitors.  Many of my questions have already been asked and answered, and others will be shifting into IRs, but I do want to follow up on some of the things that we heard in this morning's presentation.


Just at the outset on this Milton route refinement, you would agree with me it is an amendment from the prefiled evidence; is that correct?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  I mentioned in my remarks this morning that this would be part of the update we would be filing in the next week or two.


MR. MILLAR:  I just wanted to be certain of that.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Specifically, it would be a map at the back of the application that would change.  The description of the jog or the fact that there was an issue is already in the stakeholder consultation exhibit set out there.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If we look at where the -- I don't have a laser pointer here, but where the line comes in, and then it hooks up, on the left side of the screen, where it hooks up with the existing line, and then if you backtrack to the west a little bit, the new line starts up again.  Yes, that is the point there.


I notice there is, it looks to be four or five towers in between those two points?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  No.  Actually, the tower locations, I believe, are the -- it is very difficult to see, are the white dots.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Not every red dot. 


MR. MILLAR:  I've got you.  So it is just between 

two --


MR. SCHNEIDER:  It's between two towers.


MR. MILLAR:  So those red dots are not towers?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  That is as close as you can bring the two together?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  And the idea was to take advantage, again, of that publicly held land.


MR. MILLAR:  I got it.  I'm sorry, I misunderstood.  I thought the red dots were towers.  


Correct me if I'm wrong.  The space between there becomes dead space, I guess?  It is no longer carrying power?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I will point.  Do you mean --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that area in there.  The current line in there, I assume that is taken out of service?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  You mentioned, in response to questions from Mr. McLennan, I think -- and I can see it on the map here.  If you follow the new line to the south, there is, in fact, a crossover now; is that correct?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  It may be a cross-under, but, yes, there is a crossing.


MR. MILLAR:  There is a crossing, okay.  You stated that you are trying to avoid those as best as possible, although I heard why you think it is necessary here.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we heard previously that one of the reasons you try to avoid crossovers is because they're expensive; is that correct?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  I am understanding they're upwards of $5 million per crossover.


MR. MILLAR:  Will the costs of the project be amended because of this amendment?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's something that we're considering.  It may be something that is covered in the contingency item under design change.  So we're not quite there yet in terms of what we're going to do with that.


MR. MILLAR:  When you file the update, will we know at that time?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Can we move forward to - many of these are really just by way of clarification - the slide entitled "Bruce-to-Milton Transmission Project Acquisition Process."  It shows the flow chart.  Yes, that is the one.


Looking at, I guess, the fifth box, and it is in a couple of others, as well.  At the top it says:

"Formal compensation offers are prepared internally by property agents for each property."


Then if you go ahead a couple of boxes, it also says if the landowner and Hydro One achieve mutually satisfactory settlement terms.


I want to get a feel for the timing of this.  Does this happen before or after you get the section 92 approval, assuming you get the section 92 approval?


MR. THOMSON:  The idea would be is that we will probably be out making formal offers sometime early in the new year.


MR. MILLAR:  So before the section 92 approval?


MR. THOMSON:  No.


MR. SKALSKI:  No, no.


[Panel confers]


MR. THOMSON:  I am talking January of 2008.  So...


MR. MILLAR:  Right.


MR. THOMSON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So before the section 92 approval?


MR. THOMSON:  Yes.  We would be beginning before the section 92 approval.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess if we go forward to the one where you talk about reaching an agreement with landowners -- 


Let me make the question simple.  I guess the question is:  What happens if you reach an agreement with a landowner, but then the 92 is not approved or the 92 is --


MR. THOMSON:  It would be subject to approval.


MR. MILLAR:  So there is a condition in the agreement?


MR. THOMSON:  Absolutely.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Can we move to the next slide, please?  I had a number of questions about aboriginal consultation, but I think I will put those into an IR.  That might be an easier way for you to answer it.


If I look towards the bottom of this slide, the second-last point, it says:   

"Crown consultation process with aboriginal peoples under way."


I'm wondering if you can tell me a little bit more about that.  I'm not sure I am aware of exactly which consultation you are talking about.


MR. THOMSON:  Hydro has had meetings with the Saugeen, Chippewas of Saugeen, Nawash and the Six Nations.  Letters -- Crown consultation?  I'm sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it's --

MR. THOMSON:  Yes.  We're aware it is underway, but I am not aware of any of the discussions that have taken place, today.

MR. MILLAR:  By "Crown", do you know if we're talking Ministry of Energy, or the provincial Crown, I assume?  Is there more detail that we can be provided with on this point?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Millar, Hydro One has been advised by the Ministry of Energy officials that Crown consultation steps are underway, and some of those steps have included informal meetings and telephone discussions with First Nations community leaders, and the nature of the discussions to date have related to topics including protocol arrangements that may be appropriate.

But it's a work in progress, I think, is the best way to characterize it.

MR. MILLAR:  Is Hydro One involved in those negotiations?  I know you have your own negotiations going on, but have you been involved in that process with the Crown?

MR. NETTLETON:  Again, I think probably best for an IR, but what I can tell you is that there is a clear distinction between Hydro One's obligations to consult with stakeholders in respect of its application, and the duty of the Crown to fulfill its obligations to consult with First Nations, relating to the Constitution Act and Section 35.

The Crown is carrying out the substantive obligations associated with that, and has, to date.  And that's why we say we have been advised by the Ministry of Energy that those activities have taken place.

Those activities have not involved Hydro One, as I understand it.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Nettleton, if you think I am getting into argument or something, just tell me to stop and I will stop.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Is Hydro One an agent of the Crown?

MR. NETTLETON:  For purposes of Crown consultation?  The Crown's obligations to consult with First Nations are the Crown's obligations, not a corporation's obligations.

I think the case law is quite clear that the delegation that can happen to a proponent can be of a procedural nature.  The substantive obligations have to be carried out by the Crown.

MR. MILLAR:  So just to be clear, although I believe Hydro One is an agent of the Crown, in your view that doesn't mean for the purposes of consultation with aboriginal groups?

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't think that has been determined yet.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think how the Crown decides to carry out its obligations is, again, a work in progress.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, maybe I will save the rest of this for IRs.  I imagine we will discuss it further.

Mr. Nettleton, just one final question on this.  In terms of the Crown consultation, to the extent you are aware, is this specifically about this project, or is this a broader consultation about energy issues?  If you don't know, and we can put this in the IR.

MR. NETTLETON:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  It may seem I am hopping around here.  That is just because I crossed off a lot of the questions.

Mr. Schneider was responding to questions; it may have been from Pollution Probe, but I can't recall.  He was discussing the additional width that was required to the existing corridor to put up the new 500 kV line.

I think he also discussed the width that was required for a greenfield corridor, but I am not sure I got the numbers straight, so just to follow up on that.

Mr. Schneider, can you tell us what the difference is in the width requirement between a new greenfield corridor for a 500 kV line, versus the widening that is required to add on to the existing corridor?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  If you are planning to build a greenfield 500 kV double-circuit line, you would require approximately 250 feet in width.

For this project, in terms of expanding the existing corridor, if you are placing the 500 kV line next to another 500 kV line - which is part of this, some of the profiles here - you are looking at an expansion of about is 175 feet.  

If you are placing the new 500 kV line next to a 230 kV line on the right-of-way, which happens in this project in some places, you are adding approximately 200 feet.

MR. MILLAR:  So the widening required varies between 175 and 200 feet?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  To put it beside the existing corridor, or to expand the existing corridor.  Versus 250 square feet, if I got that right --

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Not square feet, 250 feet.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course, not square feet.  You are quite right.

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you explain to me why that is the case?  Why you need a little bit less land, 50 to 75 feet less land, it looks like?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  It has to do with the width of the existing corridor, and there is more space on the 500 kV corridor from the edge of the conductor to the edge of the right-of-way, so you don't need as much when you're putting a 500 next to that 500 kV line.  With a 230 kV line, you have less distance from the centre line, or the edge of the conductor to the edge of the corridor.  So you need more distance separating it from the new kV line.

MR. MILLAR:  Does 250 feet for a greenfield corridor, does that include any buffer zone in addition to what is, strictly speaking, required?  Is there some contingency built in there for future expansion?

MR. SCHNEIDER:  Not for future expansion.  What you are trying to do is accommodate the swing in the conductor, and then some clearance as well.  Because if you think about it, at the edge of the right-of-way, private landowners who own land abutting the right-of-way can build whatever they would like, I suppose subject to whatever municipal planning guidelines exist in the area.  We have to ensure, from a safety perspective that there is a sufficient clearance from whatever they build, to our lines.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I am going to move on to my last area.  It is a fairly short question.  It is part of our prefiled questions.  I don't know if you have them in front of you.  But question 38 is under "land matters".  

It is something like a five-part question, but I don't propose to ask the whole thing.  In fact, I am just going to ask the first question.  I'm sorry, I said question 38?  Yes, it is question 38.

You filed a number of agreements with your -- or draft agreements, in any event, with your Section 92 application.  I'm just going to ask the first part of our first question.

I just want to confirm with Hydro One, or at least ask Hydro One if you're seeking approval from the Board for each of the agreements that we have listed here.

MR. THOMSON:  I guess our response would be there are going to be two key agreements that we will be using for land acquisition: the agreement of purchase and sale, and the offer to grant an easement.

The first item, easement agreement, is the actual schedule that we attach to our registered document, registered easement document.  So it is basically just the terms and conditions that are setting out what Hydro is going to enjoy, that will be registered in the land Registry office. 


The other two, as I mentioned, with the agreement of purchase and sale and offer to grant an easement, those will be the documents we will be utilizing along the corridor.

The other agreements are ancillary agreements, meaning that we will use them on a when-we-need-them kind of thing.  If there is damage claims or whatever, then we would be utilizing those types of forms.  But they may not be used on each and every property.  It depends on what the circumstances are.  They're ancillary agreements.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear, are you seeking approval for the form of these agreements from the Board?  Or are these more filed for information purposes?

MR. THOMSON:  I believe for the approval process the two forms, the agreement of purchase and sale an offer to grant an easement, we would want the approval.  And as I say, with the easement agreement terms and conditions, obviously that is something that will be provided as our schedule to our easement agreement.  


The other agreements, I believe, are just ancillary agreements that we would need on a case-by-case.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Millar, this goes back to the Motions Day, where there was a discussion with your contemporary, Ms. Sebalj, relating to the forms of agreement and the common practice of only filing the easement in the purchase-and-sale agreements.

I don't think Hydro One would be averse to having the Board bless or approve the other forms of agreements, if that was deemed to be appropriate.

I think what we were wanting to be upfront with is provide a pro forma, if you will, of the documentation that we're planning to use, but we defer to the commentary that we heard of the purchase-and-sale and the easement agreements being the form of agreements typically approved, given that those are the agreements that are dealing with the actual right to land that is being acquired.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  

Unless I am mistaken, that brings us to the end of the technical conference.  Are there any final matters anyone wishes to raise?  

Thank you, panel, and thank you, court reporter, and thank you, everyone.  We will see you in January, if not before.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 4:12 p.m.
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